ARKANSAS DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
SPECIAL EDGCATION UNIT

XXXX AND XXXXXXXXX, as Parents of

) Petitioner
AXXXXXXXKKX, )
Lo, ) No. H-20-05
)
BENTONVILLE SCHOOQL PISTRICT } Respondent

NOW on this 2" day of October, 2019, came on for hearing Petitioner’s Request for a Due Process
Hearing, Petitioners, XXXX AND XXXXXXXX, as Parents of Student, XXXXXXXXX,
represented by Theresa Caldwell, Attorney, and Respondent. BENTONVILLE SCHOOL
l?iiSTRiCT, represented by Marshall Ney, Attorney. This cause was submitted upon the pleadings,
the testimony of witnes ses. argument of Pelitioner and Respondent, and other matters and things from
ajl of which the Hearing Officer finds and Orders, Hearing dates were October 2™ October 3% and
October 4™, 2019, Based upon the testimony of the witnesses and the evidence presented and
admitted fnto the record of this proceeding, | make the following findings of fact and conclusions of
law:

o

SSUES PRESENTED

Were the educational placements offered by Bentonville School Distriet (hereinafter referred to as
Disirict or Respondent) from August 23", 2017 to August 23" 2019 reasonably calculated to
provide Student (hereinaficr referred to as “Student”) with g free, appropriate public education
('iéereiﬂaﬁer referred 1o as FAPE)?

a Did the District comply with procedural requirements of DEA?

b. Did the District provide services in the Least Restrictive Environment?

C. id the 1EP contain inconsistences and incarrect data?

d. Did TEP measure goals and objectives adeguately?

e Did District fast to follow the [EP?

f id the Petitioners have the ability 10 have meaningtul participation in the
Students education?

g I not, 1s Student entitled to be declared eligible to receive special education services
as a result of the alleged failure of District 10 offer special education and related
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services?

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This was the first Due Process Complaint filed by the Parents. The current Due Process Complaint
\%vas filed the 23" day of August, 2019 by . (hereinafter referred to as
‘E.Parentzs"' or “Petitioners™), the parents and tegal guardians of— (Student). The
Parents requested a Due Progess Hearing because they believed the District has failed to comply with
the Individual with Disabilities Act of 2004, 20 US.C. 8§ 1400-1485, as amended (hereinafier
referred to as “FAPE” or the “Act”) and the regulations set fourth by the Departnent by not
providing the Student with appropriate special education services as noted in the statement of issues.
When Parents filed the Complaint for Due Process Hearing, the Student was an eight-vear-old
second grade male student enrolled i the District.

In response to the Parents’ request for a Hearing, the Department assigned the case to this Impartial
Hearing Officer on the 26" day of August. 2019 and time-lines were established and transnutied to
the respective Parties by the Department. On A ugust 28, 2019, a conference call was held 1o establish
dates for the Due Process Hearing, Opening Orders and Pre-Hearing Orders were drafted and & Pre-
Hearing date of October 1, 2079 was sei. along with the Due Process Hearing dates of October 219,
Getober 3™ and October 4", 2019. On the 30™ day of August, 2019, the Respondent filed its Answer.
Both Opening Ocders and Pre-Heaving Orders were transmitted to the Parents and the District on
September 3° 2010 vy the Hearing Officer, O September 5% 2019, the Petitioner filed an Objection
to the Sufficiency of the District’s Response. On September 6™, 2019, the District file a Supplement
tc§: Answer. A Resolution Session was required to be conducted no later than September 7, 2039,
which was held in a timely manner without the ahility to resolve the issues. On September 12 2039,
the Hearing Officer entered and Order Overruling the Motion Objecting to the Sufficiency of the
District’s Response

On September 25", 2019 five~day-disclosures and witness lists were exchanged by the Parties, both
stbmitted timely. On October 1%, 2019 the Pre-Hearing Conference was held as agreed by
onference call. At this time Pre-Hearlng Briefs were recebyed by FAX. Issues and the possibitity of
settlement were discussed afong with remedies desired by the Pavents. The Due Process Hearing
commenced on Oetober 2%, 2010 and continued thrau gh October 4™ 2019 where it conciuded at
the end of that day’s testimony. The franscript was completed on Octaber 17", 2019 and provided
0 the Parties on that date Post-Hearing Briefs were submitted onOctober 28" 2019 by bath Parties.

[«]

-

At that time the Hearing Officer had until November 6™ 2019 1o prepare and publish the Final Order
regarding this matter
FANDINGS OF FACT

The Student is a second-grade. male student enrolled in the Bentonville School District, and
has attended that District since kindergarten.

The Student lives with his mother and father

The Student has been tested and identified with Autism, receives Speech and Occupational
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therapy, and has had an TEP since {he first grade,

The Bentonville School District is required o formulate and have (he Student's 1P
implemented as long as the Student is enrolled there, regardless of what facility the Student
attends. '

RELEVANT WITNESS TESTIMONY

The wimeﬁs-teﬁtiﬁ ed she has an undergraduate in psychology, a Masters in Special
Bducation with an emphasis on autism from the University of Missouri-Columbia in 2009 and a
special certificate through Florida Tech in behavior analysis. that she sat for the national exam and
i$ & board-certified analyst since 2011 The witness testified stie taught for sbout a year in Missouri,
and she went straight from undergrad to working in an autism clinic. The witness testified since she
graduated in 2009 she worked for the Lovaas lustitute for two years daing in-hame behavior therapy
with children full time before she moved to Missouri. As to the Lovaas Institute, the witness said Ivar
Lovaas is one of the fithers of ARA. 50 10 speak, and his methods are pretty widely used in ARA
today, and his mam core hub was at UCLA in southern California, they had a lot of outreach chnics,
50 she was able to work al one of those, which was great experience. The witness explained that
ABA is applied behavior analysis, taking the science of behavior, which is behavior analysis, and
applying it to teaching skill deficits and things to any individual, and also trying to reduce problematic
behavior, challenging behavior, it is most widely known for autisim, but can be usad to teach almost
afyone anything, it is the science of behavior and how we learn things. The witness testified a BCBA
& board-certified analyss, meaning the necessary course work has been taken in applied behavior
halysis and the national exam was taken and passed to then do applied behavior analysis with
dividuals. The witness said there are strict ethics which must be tellowed, part of that requiring
hering data to analyze behavior, since all the decisions made on whether progress is ocourring or
hanges to intervention are needed are all based on the data collected The witness said she has
rked as 2 behavior analyst in honves, sehools and chinics, and has been employed now vearly two
rs by Thrive Auttsm Solutions in Benionville, The witness said before that she worked for the
Thompson Center in Columbia, Mizsouri for perhaps five years, and has heen in both pubdic and
rivate schools, and that when she does intervention in public schools, depending on the child’s
needs, they can do social skills mtervention, instruction with their peers, they can do behavior
reduction strategies is wostly what they have done !

The witness testifled the Student is a ¢hient of hers, that the Stydent came in, they did an initial
evaluation where she spent an hour speaking with the Student’s mother, then an hour with the
Student just about doing the Assessment for Functional Living assessment, the AFLS, to get a fool
fdr the Student, talking with him, getting to know s communication style, how he interacted with
her when given specific instructions, was he compliant or not. The witness said she found that
foltowing directions was pretiy difficult for the Student, especially things be did not necessarily want

: Vol I P 15, line 22, through P. 38, line 18
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to do, that there was a lot of resistance to that, so that was definisly part of the treatment ptan, being
able to work with following instructions and reducing seme of the behavior problems, then a lot of
communication skills. The witness said the Student was not talking to her much, not using a fot of
‘words in the initial evaluation, that he made a lot of grunts, sounds and gestures to Lry 1o get his point
across, so she wanted to dalimiely work on communication with him and his being able to express
himsell. Looking at the parents’ binder pages 398-473, exhibits from Thiive Autism Soluttons, the
witness said there is a re-evaluation every six months, that the first was doge | | -09-18, and fooking
dl the Assessment gf Functional Living Skilis the Student was tested as to community participation
skils, % wide range of things, such as basic commuuication, self-care, grooming, toileting, eating, an
assessment based off what a typically developing child in & certain age range would be doing i those
different skill areas, with benchmarks for those skills, such as brushing teeth with onjv verba] promipts,
which would give less pouts than brushing them independently.? The witness said she did not have
tine in every evaluation 1o assess every skill, so as they work with the clients she tries to fill in some
new categortes and get new skills going every six months ta make sure they are covering the whaole
piciure. The witness said the second category was Basic Comununication, and on the initial
evaluation for the Student the witness focused mainly on Self-Management and Basic
Communication, where there were definitely several gaps from what she observed and from
nformation she obtained fom the Student’s mother, The witness said when she tested the Student
an Community Participation Skilts, Comununity Participation. Social Awareness and Manners, she
saw # kot more skill deficits as to social interactions and knowledge of community safety type things.
The witness said she looks through the initiat diagnosis paperwork and reads what the physician or
dizgnastician was able to glean from their interactions with the Student 1o give the witness a basis
for where the Student started, whers the Student may still now be, lookin g at different levels applied
to social communjcation and restricted hehaviors they put the Student at a levet two. The witnass
said that is in the middle of the road with autism, the Student still needs a bit of support. The witness
testified that doing background information, the interview she does with parents, asking what home
Hifeis like, what school is like, what behaviors are they seeing in different areas, what things have been
done in the past, that is the first section. The witness said they tatk about education, what services
are being previded by the school, what outside services are being provided, such as speech or
ogcupational therapy, and when are those occurring, what interventions the child is receiving. The
w:itne:ss said then their assessment is done after that background. The witness said she does the
AFLS, then emails out additional assessments to be done by the care givers. The Vineland. and she
t.&m.ught the insurance company requires the Pervasive Developmental Disorder Behavior In ventory,
that the insurance company requires a lot of assessments prior to authorizing treatnent

Looking at the Student’s initial Treatment Plan, the witness testified the PDD Behaviar inventory is
rating  scale for care givers to assess functioning levels of adaptive behaviors, maladaptive
behaviors, with different domains, such as sensory behaviors, more stereotype or ritualistic behaviors,
ve,q;’here the child falls in that range, and some social behaviors and expressive language is also assessed,
just where the parent feels the child falis  The treatment plan was driven by the PDDBL, the PDD

Vol L, P. 38, line 19, through P 42, tine 3
Vol 1, P38 line 19, through P. 46, line 11
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Behaviors Investory from the teacher and parent.’ Looking at the Teacher Score Repott, the witness
testified the first one she did was completed by the school teacher, but the witness was able 1o
complete the second one which was due in the summer when the Student was niof at school?

The witness said the Treatment Plan for the Student was to hit the broad domains first, that
Communications was a huge one, there were a fot of goals for commurnication, that Social Skills was
another big deficit, so a lot of skills were written for that, that Adaptive Skills and sel-management
focused on mare of those adaptive skills, the Student being able to take care of himself and be
independent Behavior was another big ons, particularly on the second Treatment Plan after they
reatly got to know the Student, the behavior excesses, the problem behaviors. The witness testified
that from there they decide on instruction methods. that untit they know a child well, she likes to
check off more boxes than maybe are needed just to cover afl the bases, that they check all the
mterventions thought relevant for each individual and then write the specific objectives. The witness
said the Student was definitely verbal, but they focused on the Student ustng words instead of
gestures and grunts as he was doing. The witness said they wanted 1o make sure there was a lot of
motivation and reinforcement for the Student to use words and basic manners, be able to navigare
his environment safely, and they wanted the Student to be able to ask for breaks at school, to be able
to ask for alone time to calin down when needed, that sort of replacement behavior instead of
problem behaviors.*

The witness testified that with autism children are not looking around their enviroament to pick up
needed skills fiom athers, so they need to be taught skills. with repetitive teaching of the same skill
over and over. as they do not naturally generalize or maintain those skills, so the skilis are taught
over and over do it with different people, with d:ferent stimuli, to be applied in all environments.”

The witness testified consistency of care is important, so the Thrive team collaboration with the OT
nd speech therapists on goals care and goals would ensure similar goais and working in similar ways
> the ehild is not confused and progress is delayed. The witness also said she contacted and
llaborated with the Student’s school team, but she did not know if the schoal team consistently
plemented, or did at all, what the witness was imiplementing at Thrive as far as approaching the
ehavior goals.”

-

s far as the ABA therapy for the Studen:, the witness testified they had to subnut it to the insurance
campany. o request a certainnumber of hours, and the maximum for this Student s age and insurance

! Vol 1, P46, line 12, through P 47, line 9. and
Vol I P 47 line 21, through P. 48, line 2

: Vol I, P 47, lines 10-15
& Vol I, P47 line 21, thiough P. 51, fine 21
Vol LI 51, line 22, through P 52, line 22

¥ Vol L P53 line 10, through P. 54, line 14
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Gompany is 25 hours weekiy, so that is what the witness requested in the first injtial Treatment Plan,
3 hours of one-to-one direct therapy with the behavior technician, She said the ABA therapy
rovided by Thrive with the Student at first was kind of inconsistent with the times and days, then
1ey thought they had the Student’s schedule figured out. The Student has had very comsistent
echnicians on his team, that they have golten 1o know him well, that he is the kind of child vou have
0 really get 1o know and build frust with betore demands and targets are thrawn at him. They had
b work on antecedent and consequence strategres and learn what reinforcers worked and whal
rotivated the Student, and the first six months was figunng how the Student was going to be most
successful while putting in targets where the Student was having fun and did not even realize he was
working ® The witness said they did quarterly progress updates on the Student, but they had to make
sure the Treatment Plan they repoit on has been implemented for a month and then it is reported on
progress from there, ™

i S 0

—_ . e e

The witness testified there was a new Treatpent Plan over the summer, where they redid all the
assessments and wrote the new Plan, that the insurance company requires that either annua lly orevery
six months. The Vineland did not need to be redone, that is an anual assessment, but the PRDRI,
the SRS and the AFLS were all updated for the most recent Treatment Plan, which is good until 10-
3. The witness said she does update any current new things with the family, if someone moves out,
 semeone moves ia, if' things at school have changed, and she did change the Student’s attendance
dates at school because that was when they went to the Monday-Tuesday schedule.”

Lalking about the PDDBI, the Pervasive Developmental Disorder Behavior Iwentory for the Student
m June, and looking at the parent scoring sheet, the witness said the parents’ report showed they were
definitely secing skills. mare success, at home than in other environinents. Looking at the presence
and sevesity of social impairnent within the autism spectrum, the witness said the Student’s T-score
was an 86, meaning he is kind of in the severe range of social impairment, having deficits in social
iteractions with family, with peers, with siblings."* On challenging behaviors, the witness wrote the
Student displayed aggression towsud teachers. hitting and kicking in school, throwing items in the
classroom and tantrums that could Jast up 1o two hours, which information was provided to the
w;itness by his parents.™

T;he witness denjed meeting with the Rentonville School District fast sunmnier or this year, bui said
1e did meet with them last year. The witness said she was still reconumending 25 hours per wesk
of therapy, but that was not what they ended up requesting, since insurance companies are tricky, and

* Vol I, P. 57, line 24, through P. 59, line |}
W Vol [, P 59, ling 12, through P. 60, line |

" Vol 1, P. 72, line 7, through P. 73, line 20

i Vel 1 P74, tine 20, through P. 77, line |

H Vol L P79, line 10, through P 80, tine 15
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due (o restnctions in schedule, they enty asked for 15 hours weekly, that the restrictions were not due
to the insurance company, hut due to scheduling restrictions with the Student’s family. The witness
said the Bentonviile School District wanted the Studend in school as much as possible, they were not
resistant to the Student coming 1o therapy,

Discussing thas Thrive recommended 25 haues weekly of ABA therapy, the witness said she did not
know it the parents agreed to 13 hours instead. it was just they decided |5 was more reasonable for
the parents’ schedule, their availability when they said they were available, with other therapies going
on and school gomg oo and family time. that they adapted to the parents’ schedule to arrive at an
dgreement for 15 hours a week, even though the witness thought 25 was more appropriate I*

The witness agreed Thrive delivers ABA services after school hours, in the evenings and on
weekends. The witness said the Student’s parents did not bring the Student to Thiive for ARBA
Serviees at any time ather than during school hours, so it is the parents’ choice to miss school and not
bring the Student to Thrive or make the Student accessible by Thrive in hours other than schoal. The
witness testified that they went into the homes of other children Thrive serves an a Sunday afternoon,
dr a Saturday morning, or after school, and agreed that if the Student’s parents were willing Lo bring
e Student (o Thrive in those alterative times. the Student would not have to mss school. The
wittiess said she was concerned about the Student mssing so much school '

>

As far as the Student missing school to attend ABA therapy, the witness said she thought they had

 feast one phone call with DHS back when it first began, and then they provided. mn the summer |
was monthly, and in the school year weekly, letters to the school and to DHS as to when the Student
ttended that week and what his hours of therapy were and why he was aftending. The witness said
le received a referral from Dr. Neaville for ABA therapy for the Student, and agreed it was
edically necessary, opining that if the Student stopped ABA therapy now, there could be a
regression in skills and maybe an increase in the proliem behaviors.!?

Zow s oo

B

§ far as Dr Neaville, the witness said sometimes they get an actual letter from the referring
pysician, just without diagnostic information, just & fetter stating they are recommending the ARA
ervice, and looking at pages 194-196_ 2 06-21-18 office visit and progress note by Virginia Neaville,
on page 195, under “Plan,” the witness agreed it said the Student would be veferred for ABA therapy
‘48 per Mam's request.” The witness said if this counts as a refeiral from Dr. Neaville, they would
ave all that documentation.'* '

@y

i

”’ Vol I, P 79, line 16, through P 81, line 24

t Vel 1, P 100, lines 5-23

e Vol L, P. 100, fine 24, through P. 102, line 12
7 Vol L, P. 81, line 25. through P. 83, {ine 19

" Vol L P86 line 19, through P. 87, line 19

He20-0% FINAL ORDER PAGE T




Looking ai page 195 in the parents’ binder. one page out of the Mere, the Clinic Normmhwest Arkansas
Medical notes, the withess read out loud number one uader “Plan,” reciting the Student “will be
referred for ABA therapy as per his Mom’s request.” and the witness agreed that was not a medical
diagnosis. The witness also agreed that Donna Van Kirk, who recommended the Studens be
evaluated for ABA services, was not a medical doctor The witness also agreed that Dr. Neaville
related the referral to Mom.™ The witness agreed that 1o her knowiedge they are required to have 5
medical referral for ABA therapy, and that oftentimes they would get a letter fram Dr. Neaville,
vhich usually states something to the effect of “this is the diagnosis and this is the treatment ['m
ecommending.” or “referring o,

-~

Vhen asked about the Student’s progress the witness had seen in the year he hias been having therapy,
the witness said they were definitely seeing progress in the first six months, and even in the summer
wey saw reduction in problem behavior and increzse i skils. that the Student was happv to be in
sgssions, he enjoved the sessions and was working and having fun with them  The witness said in the
fast months or so, they definitely saw an mcrease in problem behavior, fonger duration tantrums
during sessions, which has hindered skills progress if they are managing a tantrum for an hour plus.
The witness said this could be because of a lot of factors. she could not pinpoint which exactly

—

—

ooking at a psychological evaluation of the Student dated 03-21-18 by Donmna Van Kirk, the witness
aid that would have been included in their initial intake paperwork on the Studenr ™

W

Discussing ABA therapy, the witness said, explaining the ditfereniial observing response and the
functional communication training, that differential observing response is what thev consider an
aptecedent strategy, so it happens before the behavior, that it is basically a way to cue an individual
to the response you are looking for, maybe putting in prompts to cue what the response is, a strategy
for thingslike that. Functional communication traimin 2 is one they use later in the behavior reduction
domain, teaching a functional way for the child to get s need met to replace the problem behavior,
ach as asking for a break instead of trying to get out of a task. The witness said with the Student,
hey know some of his kind of warning behaviors are. so they might teft am he may need a break, and
e will respond. The witness said they also make sure there is social time set aside during the
tudent’s day and that they are pre-teaching him social skills before going into these sociad
enpagements

oD e oW

"he witness said the Student lustorically was in the mean area. if not fower, as far as the hierarchy
"their clients, while recently he has displayed more problems sa she would put him a bit higher than

o

v Vol. I, P. 98, line 5, through P. 100, line 4
A Vol I, B 119, line 16, through P. 120, line 5
Vol I P84 line 6, through P. 83, line 6
Vol 1, P 86, knes 4-14

e Vol 1 P. 88, line 8. through P. 91_ tine 19
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ber mean, as ¢he has heen called away maore often 1o come help the Student’s technician with the
Student’s problem behavior in the Jast few months, since schoo! started, maybe the end of summer
: ) . . - - - . 5 ' 3
o The witness said her Treatment Plan projected five years of treatment for the Srudent ™

The witness agreed inconsistency is not good for a student with autism, that they want consistency,
and that they got off to a cough start with the Student. as he would be at school & day, Thrive a day,
schoot a day, Thrive a day. The witness agreed the school reached out and worked directly with
Thrive to develop consistency, so now instead of gomng back and forth, the Student goes to Thrive
Monday and Tuesday, and 10 school Wednesday, Thursday and Friday, The witness testified the
Student is not brought to school Mondays and Fuesdays, which is the parents’ choice *

When asked if she did ARA therapy in the school setting in Northwest Arkansas since she had been
emploved by Thiive, the witness said a bttle bit with Rogers public schools, but it was not on her
caseload now. it was on others’. The witness agreed Thrive predominantly delivers irs ABA services
either in the honte or in the clinic setting. The witness sard she did have some kids in private school ¥

The witness agreed the majority of delivery of her services for her caseload is in the home or clinic.
hat it ts documented, and that if they were going to be in the school, that will be documented. The
itness testified as it pertains to the Student, the witness’ recommended therapy is for in the chinic,

t the Student’s home, and in the community as necessary, and that focations are in every Treatment
Plan.* The witness agreed that to the exteni she is going to be concerned with the school setti ng, she
i going to coordinate with the Rentonville Therapy Team, that she had been invited to and attending
TEP and other meetings with Bentonviile staff. and that those engagernents were positive, no difficulty
working with the Bentonville staff. The witness agreed that not only has she come into Bentonville
s¢hools, but the Assistant Director of Thrive, Brandon Thurman, has also come in, and the twp of
them have been mvited in and worked with the LEP teams with respect specifically to the Student 2

=

P

Fhe witness did not think of anything Bentonville sobools has done to mterfere with the delivery of
srvices to the Student. The witness agreed shehad not personally requested the opportunty Lo
vme in and provide the Student’s ABA services in the school setting, nor was she aware of Thrive

oW

1“ Vol L P 91, line 20,through P, 92_ line 13
- Vol 1, P. 93, lines 8-13
2 Vol L P 103, tine 7, through P. 204 tine 12

a7

Vol L P 105, line 7, through P 106, Hne 4,
POI2L line 24, through P. 122, line 2

# Val |, P. 106, lines 7-23

@ Vol I, P 106, line 24, through P 108, line |
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making that request. ™ The witness said as far as seeing some regression in the Student. she had no
answer or data supporting a specific reason, it could be a mubtitude of causes, and agreed it could
even be things happening in the Student’s home, "

If,oaking, al page 410 in the parents’ binder, the witness agreed it said intervention would be
ijnpi;ememed i the clinic, the Student’s home and in the community as necessary, The witness
testified it went on to say that some of the goals, example, adaptive skills, independent play, behavior
reduction, must be rargeted to specific setrings, and again gave the same three examples of location.
The witness agreed to school was not listed, and that in terms of how they would approach school,
it was going to be under the coordination of care, and that was going to be with the Bentomvile
Therapy Team. The witness agreed those engagements have been successful from her perspective ™

Lookmg at the PDD Behavior Inventories, starting on page 429, the witness agreed there was one
from the witness and one from the Student’s motber. The witness agreed there was a reference made
t0 an mverory with — the interviewee, which the witness had seen. and said it meant
nothing that she was listed as nterviewee as opposed 1o rater, that was jusl the wording on the
Treaument Plan as far as the wimess knew, and agreed that (- d not have been
hterviewed as appased to given an instrument and asked to rate it The winess did not know why,
Fleast in the book, there does not exist that mventory from Jamie Cook. ™

mo=-

J}{)okkng at the District’s binder, tab 48, pages 379 and 350, the witness agreed that was an email
kchange between the witness and staff members of the Bentonville School District as to the Student,
he witness said she believe I w:s the Students teacher last vear. The witness said she
clieved Angela Winfield was the school principal, but that she (the witness} was horrible with names.
chool counsel advised the witness Angela WinGeld was the SPED lead. The witness agreed she had
aid in the email she was sorry the Student had a rough day after coming back from his Thrive
essions, and did not want his Thrive sessions to cause a regression or setback at schoo!, that their
oal was progress in all environments. The wilness went onte say in the email she was requesting
continued feedback in the Student™s new schedule, and that she was absolutely open to looking at
other session times, but that right then they were following the schedule provided by the Student’s
parents. The witness agreed she reiterated in the email they were Sexible and wanted to make sure
the Student was progressing across all environments. The witness agreed that was purt of the
c{}ordination of care between Thrive and Bentonville schools, which is how it is supposed to work.
The witness agread the discussion was about the concern the inconsistency of schedule and the
beomerang back and forth was negatively impacting the Student. The witness agreed she was
concerned about the Student missing that much school. and that she was still concerned about it

L0 T e

g w

o Vol 1, P. 108, lines 2-11

* Vol L, P. 108, line 12, through P. 109, line 2
# Vol. 1, P 109, line 3, through P. 110, line 10
13

Vol L P11 hine V1, through P 11t line 11
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today, but that she believed it is fixable, Looking again at the email exchange, the witness agreed she
referred to having seen some refusal and frustration with harder tasks with the transitioning away
{rom preferred activitios, that she would love 1o give more details and hear about school, and asking
if there was any time next week for that. The witness agreed this was at least happening in January
of 2019 based on this email, and said the Student was missing significant portions of school. The
witness agreed that occurred the entire Spring semester of 2019, 5o far to this date. When asked if
the Student would do best in school snviranment if he actuall y comes 1o school, the witness satd yes,

i you are there, vou make progress. ™

The witness said she works with the Children’s T herapy Team as well, and agreed that was 4 hours,
Vol 1, P 116, lines 19-23 When asked what she did to get into the schools, the witness said she did
not deal with that, she is told when and there to 80 by the higher-ups at Thrive. The witness said
when she first started at Thrive she was told they historically do not to into the Bentonville Public
Schools to provide therapy, so that is why it would nat be listed in her Plan of Care ™

: e i "

The witness said in her perfect world view. on what they were going to do with the Student o make
progress with the Student, she would fove to go to school with 3 her kids, th be there with them and
Helping in all envirenments, but they are limited to what they can do, 50 she does the best therapy she
can where she can.*

FATHER

ﬂﬁe witness, Student’s father, Yestified he graduated high school in 1991, went to MEPS in Litthe Rock
and became a 1S, Marine where he enlisted and pariicipated four years. He left in 1995 and went to
Kenna Metal, he worked there approximately 17 vears, until he decided to move to CNC Machining,
The witness said he loves computerized machinery and always eager to learn to do more with it. e
testified he has had a few different Jobs, generally as a machinist. and has been with Precision
Compacting Technologies now for close o a year and a half. The witness testified he is still in the
military, 20 years in the Air Guard The witness said sometimes his job takes him out of the area, his
most recent military deployment was to St. Croix for about three months for hurricane relief, that
before that be went 1o the United Arab Emirates for six moitths, and before that to Afghanistan for
thtee months The witness said since the children have been born, in the last 10 vears he has had three
deployments, and that sometimes be goes out for training, thet he recently went to a Silver Flag, which
is a special duty for civil engineers, which is what he is now. and that Tasted 2 weelks m Germany. The
witness also said he had been to 2 different schools, each for about si x months. The witness said he
is typically gone one weekend a month and two weeks our of the year. that the Silver Flag exercise

# Vol L P EH tine 12, through P. 116, line 12
¥ Vol 1, B 118, tine 4, through P. 1)9, line | ]
36

Vol. 1, P 122, ine & through P. 123, Tine 10
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ix about every i-4 vears. and ofler that counrs as yvour two-week obligation  The witiess said he
f T
works days *

The witness testified he has a stepson and a daughter who are in their 20, so be has some expenence
with raising children before having the Student and his sister with the Student’s mother. The witness
sdid hie and the Student’s mother have been married 11 vears, and he has watched the Student struggle
on different levels, that in the beginning when upset or if he did not understand, the Student would cur
up in & fetal position, for a long time he reflised to speak, then he would pomnt or grunt or say & word
or two, but progressed enough to speak on bis own, that cven now he has 2 tough time
commumnicating thoughts *

Talking about the Stwident before and after ABA therapy, the witness testified that before this therapy
the Student had a rough time in schooi, he could not harness his teelings and emotions and he would
either hit or throw something. it could be at a teacher, another child, not deliberately, he just did not
know what to do. The witness said at home there was only one time the witness saw the Student
violent, but the witness calmed the Student down. The witness testified, as to behaviors at school, the
Student would get belligerent and not be compiiant. The witness testified that since ABA therapy the
Student is far more compliant, he licars less complaints in the school, and it is getting less and less, The
witness also testified the Student js progressing and communicates 3 lol better. The witness testified
he has seen gradual social progress, that the Student is 1 real social child and it is easier for him 1o
warm up to people than it was. As far as academic progress, the witness lestified the Student ean
spell his name, can write it generally with coaxing and instruction for the letters, but sometimes he
does not want to talk about schoot and being able to put the letters together Lo write his namne on lus
own, he could not do it ®

Agked about what he attributes (o the Student’s progress or lack thereof, the witness said he did not
have that answer, that he has attended a couple of the IEP meetings for the Student, and he hears nige
things abour progress, but that he sees very little from the Stucent. The witness said it was his
ungerstanding that the schoal does not allow therapy to go into the school. The witniess said he would
like for the Student to et therapy in the school, and that it was his understanding there is a wait list
for after school availability and it might take time for the Student to attend after sehoal. The witness
d he would like to have his family on the wegkend, but if it belps the Student ger better, the witness
would sacrifice some of that time i it is available to the Student. The witness said he did not
understand how it would be possible to get 25 hours of therapy in during the week and weekend *!

Vol L P 125 line 3, through P, 128, line 11

A Vol L, P. 128, line 12, through P, 130, line 11
¥ Vol 1, P 131 lting I8, through P. 136, line 22
"“‘" Vol I, P 137, lines 1-12

Vol I, P. 138, line 2, through . 139, line 12
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\fdhéﬁ asked where he got the information that Thrive had a watting list for appointments owtside of
the schoal day, the witness said he asked his wife about {t. and 1t was his understanding from her there
wits 8 wait Hst of up ta a year and a halil that they are on the wait list, and that the reason bis kids are
nussing two days a week in school is because Thrive has no apenings i its schedule to see them
otherwise.¥ The witness testified the therapy is paid for by his insurance, Tri-Care due to his being in
he nulitary * The witness testified DHS had been to their home & few times, thar it felt like a wellness
check to look around the home, and he belisves it is the schoo! who sent (hem because of the Student
Hissing some school, and said he believed it was because the Student is missing school when going
o ABA therapy *

— b}

—

1e wirness said since he works full time, his wife goes to the IEP and other meetings in his stead
'he witness did not dispute what the documentation showed, that his wife did not attend the January
0, 2018 [EP meeting as 1o the Student, nor did she attend the December 20 |8 TEP meeting, but sajd
hé did not recall that his wife commumnicated with the school on those fwo occasions SAYING 10 2O
aliead without her and send her the paperwark * The witness said he did think it mportant that one
off them, he or his wife, attending the [EP meetings. *

—

Ag 10 s military deployment away from home, the witness testified that in the last calendar vear,
other than his two weeks a vear and his weekend a month, he has missed no time at home, and his
wife is not employed cutside the home. " The witness testified he has a 2012 Nissan Frontier four-
wheel drive vehicle, and his wife has a Chevy Trax, and the licensed drivers in the home are the
witness and his wifg *

L

When asked if he could describe the difference between ABA therapies and strategies the school
district itself might be employing, the witness said they are professionals and he was nol real clear
exactly what the school does that is in comparisen to what they do, but he has seen a big, vast
difference since they have heen with the Student When asked if he has any idea what kind of
professionals the district has on its staffand that it employs, the witness said it was his understanding
they have been o some kind of class to help with those kind of therapies, but not in the strict
pré)fessimml settmg they say Thrive is,. When asked where he g0t that understanding the witness said
beinever heard anything personally from the school of what they specifically did, he had talked to his

# Vol I, P. 147, line 15, through P. 148 fine 19
H Vol I, P 139, line 22, through P 140, line 4
“ Vol L, P 140, line 5. through P, 141, line 5
i Vol I, 142, line 6, through P. 143, line 17
9 Vol. L P 145, lines 19-21

Vol L P. 149, line 8, through P 150, line 20

. Vol LP 151, line 1, through P. 152, fingi5
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wéife about it, and his understanding 1s they went to a class to deal with children with problems, but
npt anything like what Thiive does.**

MOTHER

The witness, the Student’s mother, testified she has beer a licensed insurance agent, property,
cz@sualty, life, health, variable, all aspeets, a licensed medical care giver, and primarily an in-home care
giver later on. The witness said she had given up her licenses since then. that she is medically disabled
and no longer works outside the home ¥ The witness testified she did recalt missing one or two 1EP
micetings, and said she remembered saying could they reschedule, that they would want to meer and
she thought she was okay, but with MS and arthritis she did not know when she was 2olig 1o have
arl exacerbation or if she 13 going to feel good today, then tonight is bedridden.™

By way of background information as to the Student, the witness said the Student from garly
chisldhood exhibited signs of the sensory processing disorder, autism, anxiousness, but simce he had an
older sister who was already diagnosed or being tested at that point. they held off official diagnosing
the Student. The witness said the Student had problems from the beginning, that he met milestanes
as far as watking and rolling. but he did not 1alk, he was not affectionate or loving, that he was non-
verbal prior 1o entering kindergarten, his commurication was grunts, groans, yelis, screams. hits, ¥

fer)

o

The witness testified that prier to getting ABA therapy, they had problems at home, but she did ot
think they had the extent of problems the schocl had. The witness said since starting ABA therapy,
maybe one time she could think ofin the recent year. two at most, that the Student had a fit at home. ®

Asked about melidowns by the Student at schoal the witness said she is not at school when the
Student is there, but that she has gotten papers fiom the school sent home saying the Student has
cléared tables, thrown book 8, luts, keicks, bites, cleared offhisteacher's books last vear, and there were
tamtrms last year and the vear before, but this year has been a little bit different The witness said she
did not think the Student ever really hit kids. that it was primarily aides and teachers. When asked if
she has seen improvement in the Student since starting ABA. the witness testified she has seen
improvement, that prior to ABA it was several times a week, up and down. to the point she felt like
she was forced, pressured 1o medicate the Studeont 1o keep him calim. The witness said the Studem
was started off on a low dusage of medication, that she felt medication was the schoot’s idea, as they

@ Vol 1L P 145, ling 25, through P. 147, line 3 )
o Vol L P 153 fine 18, through P. 155, line 25

A Vol L, P. 156, lines 3-20

o Vol L P 157, line 5, through P. 158, line 6
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Vol 1, P 1538, fine 7, through . 159, ling $

F-20-05 FINAL DRDER PAGE L4




Kept saying something needed 1o be done to calm the Student down, and that she was asked ta call
her docter during a meeting with , she did not recall who else was present,”’

The witness said she recalled several incidents where the school said they were having increased
problems with the Student having meltdowns, that there was accasional destruction or property and
injury 10 school employess, 2 teacher’s hand was hurt, and the Special Eid supervisor said the gpisodes
of aggression were unprovoked, so the witness said she did not feel there was any other option but
to medicate the Student. The witness testified it seemed to help, but she remembered a phone call
about two months after starting the Student on medication saying in their opinion it needed to be
mcreased. The withess said she said no, that any medication needs a full 90 days before you even start
1@ think about reacting, and not ta ask her again, The witness said she gave Dr. Neaviile permission
t9 speak with the school abourt medies tion for the Student and 10 share records with them *

The witness testified the Student was in a Special Ed classroon when he first came into school, he got
90 minutes of speech and the rest of the tione he was in the General Ed classroom. 2.010 of General
Ed.™ The witness testified the Student improved some i second grade, after he and his sister were
separated, and he was basically in the Special Ed classroon all day, that it was improving because he
was not in the fetal position, not as many [is.”

The witness testitied she had been told there was no Behavior Plan in place for the Student, thay e

both said there was no Behavior Plan jn place. The witness testified she had
been told they pui the Studen: in 3 time-out, put him in a chai, make hin miss recess, that it is iy the
classroom with the teacher 5

The witness said they learned aboust the Student’s behaviors at school by the sheets the schoot sends
hgme, there were 1ally marks setting out different occurrences, all unprovoked, getting up to 162 in
one day, and there was a note about medication. The witness said when she first began giving the
Student medication it was in the evenings, but it took the Student a long time to 2o to sleep, and he
would be up at 2-3 a.m and then when she tried to wake him at 5-5:15 am. 0 get ready for school
he was asleep again, then would wake up and get to scheol, then would fall asleep. The witness said
after calling the doctor, they changed the medication t0 7 am. and the Student’s sleeping patterns
went back to normat ¥

" Vol 1, PUT60, fine 23, through P. 163, line 20
“ Vol L, P 164, line 7, through P, 166, line 2]
e Vol 1. P 158, fine 21, through P. 169, line 2
¥ Vol 1 P. 170, line 13, through P. 171, line $
* Vol L. P 172, fing 18, through P 173, fine 14
¥ Vol I, P 174, line 8, thraugh P. 177, line 25
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Explaini_ﬂg what she had to do to get ABA therapy for the Student, the witness testified it was brought
up at some point at a pediatric visit with Dr. Neaville and the Student’s behaviors, that all s issues
would be critical to his well-being, his growth, his maturity, to learning, to everything, and when she
was told ABA would be critical, her first question was for jnsurance o pay for it, it has to have 4
rg*,ferral, and the doctor said do you want a referral and the witness s2id that she said ves, if it is
citical *

Lécmkin;g at the third tab m the blue book, pages 194-196. a medical office visit documentation 6-21-
9, for Merey Clinic Northwest Arkansas, RN i< ilness testified by way of background
tha (RN} been both her vounger children's pediatrician for around six years, and she had
¢en the Student for quite a while. The witness testified that during ong of the visits, because of the
udent s problems with behavior and problems at sehool. it came up that ABA 15 very beneficial and
helps teach a child behavior tricks, how to get along, how to go through society, that it would be
eritical to the Student with all his mettdowns, all his anger and issues 1o have ABA therapy. The
witness said she then asked for a referral, as for Tri-Care to pay, it has to be medically necessary
and/or a veferral. The witness confirmed that on page 195 of the exhibit, it has a plan that the Student
wiit be referred for ABA therapy per momy's request. The witness said that referral had o €0 10 the
provider of choice, in their case Thrive. that it had 1o be sent like a prescription or an order form, that
it was a very long, drawn-out process, that Tri-Care sent somethin g l“n—,va‘nting more, and
it went back and forth ©

ko

= LN

b

The witness testified that hefore she got the relerral fron(NENNER. she was referred

—for the Student to have a psychological evaluation, and that on pages 197-200 s that evaluation
The witniess testified she shared that with the school, it was dated 3-21-18, and that she has shared
every evaluation and every report that she has been given. The witness testified that the schoo would
have had this baek in September when they did a re-evaluation and looked at all the evidence. The
witness testified she did not recall when she gave it to them. bul if it was dated and then mailed out
within a week or two weeks, upon receiving it fron she turned it over to

| both had copies in person within a week of the witness’ receipt, ™

The witness testified she secured oceupational therapy and speech therapy evaluations and she
received ABA evaluations and recommendations and reports. ™ When asked why she sought out
private therapy instead of getting it at school, the witness testified becau S8 LPON every request she was
denied to bring ABA, speech, occupational therapists of her cholce. The witness said the Student has
had therapy outside school as well as inside schoal for as long as she can remember, preschool ®

&0 Vol UL P ¥5Z, line 7, through P. 153, fine 5
ol Vol HI,P. 153, line 7, through P. 155 fime &
2 Vol H1, P. 155, tine 10, through P. 156, line 11

s Vol 1L P 156, lines 15-18

o Vol 1L P57, line 20, through P 158, line 18
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As to how much therapy has been recommended for the Swdent consistently by the Children's
Fherapy Team since the Student has been in school, the witness testified it is 120 minutes for speech,
but that she did not understand why the school district did not provide that, that they never listened
to her, as she brought evaluations The witness testified she did not know what the 90 minutes of
speech therapy was based on. The witness testified she did not know why the Student was not gethmg
120 minutes of OT in school The witness testified the Student has always been taken out of schoof
t¢ get OT and speech therapy prior to getting ABA therapy. The witness testified she was nof turned
in to DHS for the OT and speech therapies, that it was explained to her that the schoo attended has
the choice 1o report it as excused or unexcused, it is entirely up to the principal. ©

»

Diséussﬁng the IEP developed and the evaluation done by the District on page one, and the District
book saying something about the witness being ill that day, the witness denied telling them to go ahead
with a meting where they were going to explain evaluations ro her and develop anew IEP, saving she
thought it was going 1o be Just a data review or progress reports, like the Student’s time in class ®

The witness testified she had never missed a meeting where evaluations are shared. that she would
ngver intentionally miss that meeting. When asked about what kind of participation the witness is
allowed in developing an \EP, when they bring an IEP in that is already typed up, she is given a copy
at the mesting v :

1he witness said she did not feet she had a voice about wanting ABA therapy, that no matter how
many times she has asked for Thrive, for Bentonville Therapy Team sfor provider of her choice into
. the school, she is shot down immediately, it is not an option ®

> Witness recalled being in a meeting with DHS and the Schoot District as to educational neglect,
i as the investigator who did a home investigation, asked the witness and her hushand,
the Student’s father, why the Student was missing $o much school (as well as his sister), and the
witness testified she showedNNIIE the documients, and (NN 25 the one who requested
the meeting at the school and came in to the witness’ defense and said she felt it was necessary that
the absences should be excused for the therapy.* Referring to why the Student’s IEP could not be
modified to reflect he was receiving ABA therapy, the witness said 1t was still the School District’s
stance that it was not medically necessary, that they teach ABA type technique in the class s how she

Vol TI P 158, fine 19, through P. 161, fine 17
o Vol ITL P, 161, ine 18 through P. 162, fine 7
Vol 11, P. 162, line 8, through P 163 line &
™ Vol 1L P, 163, line 23, through P. 164, line &

e Vol 11, P 164, tine 9, through P. 165, kine 16
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Lié}c}ughi i was referred to, and that becase an ABA technigue is taught in the class, they do not have
to allow outside therapists because of liability. ™

Léee.king at the District book. page 1971, as 10 the Student’s atrendance and FINS petition, March 28,
2019, where the first butlet point said that ABA services were provided previously through qualified
s¢hool personnel, and data showed the Student progressed to the point where these strategies were
no longer necessary for him to access apprapriate acadentc education, the witness testified she saw
nothing as far as proof 1o support that, and she was not told about ABA services that were going on !

Explaming why she reduced the Stucent’s ABA therapy time from the recommended and insurance
approved 25 hows 1o 12, the witess testified there was simply not enough time in the day for the
Student to do it in school. after school, on the weekend, and that actuaily it was 29 hecause of the
speechand OT . The witness testified even she saw there was prablem with check out fimes and days
ihe Student was out, it was hard to establish a routme. so several people had a meeting at the school,
1 vere there from Thrive, and Monday and Tuesday was brought up to do
everything on those two days and then the Student would have three uninterrupted days at school a
week. ™

The witness testified she thought everything was fine at that point, until DHS showed up. The witness
testified that what happened next, as far as the 12 hours, they kept going an through the remainder
ofithe year ™

\
Locking in the parents’ binder at a May 14, 2019 letter from Thrive, the Clinical Director, to the
Bentonville Schoot District, page 555. the witness identified it as ane of the papers provided for the
Student’s therapy excuse, being To Whom It May Concern, and testified she would have turned it over
toithe school, to ' e o' everybody '
and she attached the excuses, she believed weekly, maybe every two waeks, for each time aitended.”™

" :
Laoking at page 332, a letter of September 20, 2017 ﬁ-on— To Whom It May
Cancern, the witness testiﬁed— verified both the Student and bis sister were enrolled in
Osage Creek Elementary, they were both students served i the 1:15 clagsroom, they have an autism
didgnasis, and the mother had provided to the schoo! that her physician required clinical-based
therapies outside of school-based therapies and the mother had indicated she had tried to obiain
therapy times outside the school day, without success. The witpess read the letter also said shef IR
*had spoken with the provider and thev are attemnpting to find times outside of schooi, that

Vol 111, P. 165, line 22, through P, 166, line 13

B Voi. 11, P 163, line 23, through P. 168, fine 1
™ Vol I P. 169, line 9, through P, 171, fine |
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B-2008 FINAL ORDER PAGY Iy




if the mother is sunimoned 1o court due io the children missing in the afternaon for therapy, she would
2o with her to the provider about this, and it was signed ' The witness testified
that was before Theve, The witness testified therg as no problem with the children attending OT and
spoech therapy ar Centerton Gamble, tha he principal, had the vight to overrule amy HEP
team according to the IEP team. it was explamed to the witness that even it thev have
recommendations ar believe a child needs whatever service, the principal has a right to overrule that

The witness testified it was her u nderstasding that the two FINS petitions filed in the Student’s second
glade year were both about the ABA therapy, speech and occupationg| therapy.™ Looking at # lerrer
oh page 532 dated 3-5-19 (rom the Assistant Principal at Osage Creek Elementary, discussing
absences, after the ineeting where the witness testified she thought everyone was on the same page.
sdying she had violated the cotditions of an agreement granting special arrangements, the witness
testified she did not know what they were talking about, since the Student attended ABA_ speech and
occupational therapies on Monday and Tuesdays.”

Looking at page 550, a document from Arkansas Medicaid dated 5-3-1 9. the witness identified that
as something from their insurance company that she keeps receiving, she thought it is the partion that
Tn-Care has not paid that Medicare or Medicaid or TEFRA was to pay. but it was denied and SRYS
shie 15 responsible. ™

The witness said in November, right before the Student started ABA, he was doing things like
gr'owiing. refusing to follow directions, kicking and refusing per documentation, and those were the
things the witness was hearing about.™ The witnesstestified she remembered getting discipline reparts
ot the Student in March and Aprit of 2019 a5 to behavior, like hiting the para in the iegs with a Jackes,
refusals, his speech and not going with the therapist, being off-task, and the witness said time lost

being offtask was! not rhade up 1o hergknowledge ¥ Py

L]

'I"'h:e witness said she did not sec the same bebaviors at home she was told about happened at school.
and in her opinion it was because {he Student had no control or stability outside of the home. The
witness eid 10 see that oul for thg Student, she had met ‘with the school, the school district, the school
board, with what she thought wag the superintendent, to fight the rezoning, the moving of schoals,
the changing of teachers, everythmg in general. The witness said the Student is only in third grade,

: S
™ Vol II, P. 174, tine 4, through P. 175, Ime 13
% Vol IIL, P, 175, tine 20, through P. 176, fine 7
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and has been in three different schools, each farther from home than the last, each one a change in
teacher, bus, kids, friends.®

:

The wilness testified she believed ABA tharapy was tirgt broughi up b
help the Student, so they began pushing for it. The witness agreed sent or asked the,
WItness (o go gel 4 paychological evaluation done. Looking at a psychological evaluation done by

n3-31-18, the witness agreed the diagnosis is on 199 and said the Autism Spectrum
Disorder was discussed with her, and that it is different for different people. The witness agreed that
‘—ex:ommmded the Studeat be evaluated for Applied Behavior Analysis services, which
the witness said would teach the Student how to interact and live and communicate and function in
the world, everything from how to tie his shoes. brush his teeth, hygiene, how to mieract with people,
sccial skills, etiquette classes.®

R o said it would

The witness testi.ﬁe-»rdered ABA, and at that point a prescription was sent, the witness
thought by Dr. Neaville, since it had ta be sent by a medical doctor, not a psychiatist or psvehologist,
and that the witness handed 1t over to the [EP team and asked that they put the ABA. the speech. and
the occupational therapy, as the prescriptions were written, into the Student’s [EP. The witness
testified ABA, speech and occupational therapy were denied to be put in the Student s [EP, as not
medically necessary, The witness testified the insurance company agreed it was medically necessary
and agreed to pay for itV

The witness agieed the Student was evaluatad b~in March, then i November they had
togo through Dr. Neaville, then they had ta go find Thrive.™ The witness testified the Thrive services
began arcund the first week in January. ™ The witness testified they have a secondary insurance,
TEFRA, which is a type of Medicaig. %

The witness agreed that she did attempt io have ABA therapy integrated into the Student's school day,
that she made several requests with the TEP team, with the school. with the assistant principal, she
thought the pri ncipal was in there on at least one of those neetings that they requesied Thrive and/or
Bentonville Therapy Team come in and do the therapy at the school 0 the Student and his sister
wauld not have Lo miss, The witness testified she pave the school every letter, every prescription that

= as written or given, the same _f-‘o'r_d! of her reports, and signed papers and
fotms for them to be able to interact with each other, to talk to one another. The witness testified she

b Vol 1P 186, line 17, through P. 187, line 16
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aisv gave the school the Thrive evaiuations, each to the school, either to Ms. Jamie Cook or Mas.
Angela Winfield ¥

The witness testified there were three Thrive evaluations she took to the school « When asked abourt
here being no documentation of her asking for ABA therapy, tje witness testified she did not
emember when she asked for ABA therapy, but said it was every time they had a meeting at the
chool, IﬁE’l",pwutmg with the DHS investigator, even when she canie to that school meting, they
equested that ABA and Benfonville Therapy Team be integrated into the school districs

e e

-

’ The witness festified DH 5 came 10 1EP meetings because they were brought up on educational neglect
through DHS for exeessive absences due o ABA therapy, that they were unexcused absences The
witness testified that the school district, the IEP team, would not allow Thrive 1o come into the school.
The witness testified that 1o her understanding, the school district has an ABA or BCBA, the actual
therapist at the district office.sbut there is not ane in school, that they are taught on an applied
behaviora like learning statute, that they look up on the Interet and they are told the types of things
we do for ABA kids, so therefore they . are going to model their teaching efforts after that. The
witness said she had no data to support they have been using ABA methods with the Studen ™

The witiiess testified she started pushing the school for ABA during the Student's first grade year,

around January, and was told they did not allow outside therapy o1 outside entities into the schoot, :
that it was a liability reasan, [
The witness tesrified when insurance approved the therapy, they tried getting them in, and they were
denied, so they began taking the Student out for therapy to Thrive. The witness tesiified tha (.

Gy then both came fo a meeting ai school and offered to come into (he
schoot, and it was shot down, that meeting being after it started, and the school was concerned about :

the Student’s excessive absences last school year, secomd grade,”

Discussing the Student’s 2 grade report card, for the 2018-2019 sghoal year, page 474, ahsences
from school, the witness agreed that the first semester, before ABA therapy began. the Student was
nat being counted absent when (he witness took the Student out early, and he was only out one day
that first semester, then the third quarter he mussedt 15 days, being absent when he was taken our of

school those two days for therapy. Discussing page 478, the Student’s second quarter report card
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! Yol L P. 208, iine 10, through P. 209 [ine 1

e Vol 1, P 209 line 2, through P 210, line |
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narrative reflecting the Student reading at first grade level, 2018-201¢ during the second grade vear,
the witness said she had not seen that, but knew the Student was behind ™

Tu contrast the Student’s progress from before he began ABA therapy and before he bagan schoal
Ulis year, the witness festified 1he Student is no longer totally nonverbal, he is more active, more
toving, more CANAE, MOre interactive with peers, fiiends, teachers. her, his dad. that he is starting to
tell jokes now, which he never did before, they are dumb to the witness but she laughs because he is
taying: that behavior-wise he is sweet, toving, vespectful with not just ker and his dad. but his alder
rothers, older sisters, his friends” parents, that it seems the only problem they hear negative are from
the school district ™

o

Ass to her husband’s deployments as to why sheis not getting ABA and the other therapies outside of
schaol, the witness testified (hat she understands a deployment to be outside the U.S. jurisdictional
waters longer than a cettain period of time, and that although he has not deployed in two vears, he
teaves every month, not the same weekend a month, that when he was in Texas about a year and a half
ago, he was there six months but it was not a deployment because he was stateside  So. the witness
testified they cannot plan ABA therapy in the home and cannot provude for all that because of her
husband s schedule, his work schedule, their schedule. The witness testified that her hushand, the
Student’s dad, did not say in his testimony he went to Texas very recently, he didn’t say he was in Fost
Smith for two months Just a few months ago, because of hurricane needs, he did not say he went to
Germany for three weeks, he didn’t say be had gone to Florida a second time, and just because he is
nat deploved does not mean he is home

The witness testified she had tried to make arran gements L have these therapies after school, but they
;,a.n:e cogsidered gn the wait list and shie was told it would be approximately summer of 2020 at the

earliest before a position would become open, that she bas an email from thern as to that. **

The witness looked at parents’ extibit as to speech therapy logs of the school on the Student from
kindergarten, first and second grades. and for the OT jogs the District furnished showing the QT
mi;hutes the Student received for kindergarten, first and second grades, and said those are the data she
topk from those logs, you can look down the columns to see the minutes, for exatiple. 2,515 minutes
ofgspeech therapy and 2.640.%

Discussing the Student’s 1EP for kindergarten and the fact it said permission was given for the

Bentonville School District 1o bl her insurance, the witness said it was only good for one vear and
” Vol 1L PP 181, line 21, through P. ¥83. line 10
H Vol IL P 183, line 11, through P. 185, line 1}
” Yol 1L, P. 185, line 22, through P 187, line 21
o0 Vol 1f, P 187, line 24, through P. 188, line 8

Vol 11, P 188, fine 25, through P. 191 line 15
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twas her understanding she had to re-fill forms every year ™

As to why the witness could nut take the Student o therapy i after-school hours, describing and
clrifying when her husband gets home. the witness testified the her husband works both jobs
Mondays, and he can get home anywhere from 10 1o 1130 pm; Tuesdays, Wednesdays and
hursdays he is home by 3:13 10 5 p.m.; Fridays he works beth jobs, he is home roughly at midnight;
on Saturdays and Sundays he leaves abowt 130 and comes home, she believed his shift gets out at 10
pau., so, she rarely sees her husband between the time school fets out and 10 p.m., she might see her
husband after school Tuesdavs. Wednesdays and Thursdays, sometires not until 5 p.m., Fridays she
does not see her husband until midnight, and Sarmrdays and sundays he is gone the entire alternoon
and evening.”

The witness agreed she has a vehicle and is able 1o drive and that she is able to let people in her hame,
sa she has the capability if & Thrive therapist comes and knocks on the door between 130 o and
10 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday. to let them in, so there is nothing that has anything to do with her
husband’s Guard service or deployments that have any mpact on her ability to let her children receive
ABA therapy from Thrive without interfering with her husband's schedule or being impacted by his
afternoons, Saturday alternoons or Sunday afternoons. Then the witness testifled that, as 10 why she
was not arranging for Thrive during those hours, she is disabled, pazt of her medicat conditions, she
CE?HHOt do ali of that, that was one of the reasons. that there were several reasons, that she was on a
wait Jist, her husband was deployed, and testified that she explained all of them to the school
aumerous times

Discussing the Student’ s absences, the witness clarilied that when the Srudent was attending Centerton
Gamble and she was not turned in to FINS. she was not taking the Student out for two full days a
week, that all she was doing there was checking the Student ous at 1:30 or 2 in the afternoan a couple
of days a week, that despite her earlier testimony, she was not doing anything sinmiar at Centerton
Gamble that she is now, which is checking the Student out iwo full days weekly, which is substaatially
different '

s

As 10 the witness’ earlier testimony she met with the Bentonville School Board, she testified she had
several meetings with vas at a few, they had the therapist,
it was the meetings to discuss the Student’s progress, and when advised she had not met with the
S¢hool Board, she testified she thought that was who she was meeting with, that the IEP team is the
Sehool Board, was it not. The witness recalled yesterday's testimony that she had met with the

superintendent, and said that she was told she was speaking with the superintendent, (G

i Vol 11 P. 195, line 23, through P. 198, line 1]
9 Vol 11, B. 203, line 15, through P. 205, ling 19

e Vol 1L, P. 203, line 20, through P. 207, line 6

H Vol Il P 207 ling 11, through P. 208, lines 8-17
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However (I, 25 present at this hearing and advised the witness she is nat the superinfendent
The witness testified M. Sharp and she met al the Bentonville school, maybe Student Services
Oiffices, it was when the witness was fighting the re-zoning from gong from Centerton to Osage, and
shie kept saying no, it was not allowed, because whatever reason they were moving, that she had 1old
' she disagreed and wanted to go to the next lavel zmuaid she was the highest
person to lalk to, what she said goes, her decision was final. When asked if she knew who the School
Board members are, the witness Lestified she thought the team she met with at the school a few times
a year, and she did not know the process that schoo! board members ase elected by a tormal election
in November vearly by the patrans of the Bentonville School District. The witness said she did not
vote at School Board elections ™

When asked if she had any written documents other than pages 194-200 to suppert her assertian the
Student’s private ABA therapy is medically necessary, the witness testified there 13 one from Dr.
Neaville, there are two medical documentation in here from medical doctors that show ABA is needed,
and that the medical doctors armnd the psychologist, the psychological doctar,
GIENNE . | ooking at pages 194 and 195, the witness was asked to point to any language
where~ states the Student medically needs ABA therapy, and her testimony was 1o read
wj the firsi full paragraph wher said she, the mother, was quite concerned, Vol 11, P.
213 line 10, through P, 214, line 19 Then, looking twi semences later, the withess agreed tha
—aatually atiributed the Student’s recent adjustment to ovesall ineraction with the fanuly
appearing to have improved over the past year since the Student’s mother had extensive medical IS5 es
n the past, buf had improved, and the children’s adjustment mirrored this improvement.'”

[

Looking a‘—s repari on page 199, the witness agreed that the last paragraph said tha
due to special therapies, educational accommodations and parental guidance, the Student had made
developmental gaing Looking at page 200, the recommendations, the witness agreed that with her
consent a copy of the reporl was faxed and i was recommended the Studenst be evaluated for Applied
Benavior Analysistherapy '™ The witness confirmed that it was Thrive that did the evaluation for ABA
therapy. ™

When asked if she remembered the District asking for releases ot~md.ical recoyds, the

witness Lestified she signed several releases. '™ § ¢

The witness contirmed, loaking at page 207, an 8-17-17 record that said release of information forms
were completed by the mather to allow communications between the clitic and the school system
Ed

" Yol 1L, P 209, tine 8, through P. 211, fine 12
e Vol IL P 217, lines 13-23

104 Vol IL P. 217 line 24, through P. 219, fine 25
v Vol 11, . 220, fines 1-3

e Vol 1, P, 224, line 13, through P. 225 line 4
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regarding educariongl planning and medical diagnoses, that there would be an attempt te call the
Student’s teacher, (NN during the next week, and looking al 202 she signed releases to -l
—o talk to the school or release records to the school district, and testified that to the best of
wer recollection those releases were filied out every year. '
: L .

The witness({ IR t<stified she is the Director for Special Services for Bentoavilie Schools,
which includes Special Hducation services. The witness testified she is familiar with the Student's
records, that she began employment a year ago in October, so has completed almost two years. The
vitness testified she gathered the records in this case, and was nog surprised the box of records for the
Student had 3,078 pages.'™

—

e

ne witness testified the Department of Ed requires she document what happens in 1EP conferences
with & Notice of Action semt & the parewt, and asreed she is required to send out a Notice of
sConference also '

L § _

Asked tolook at the Notice of Action dated:May 15, 2017, Lhe witness read from the document what
oteurred at the meeting: that the team met o discuss the Student’s progress, determine eligibility for
gétend_(;d school year services, develop a new [EP. and review accupational therapy evaluation; that
thle Student would have 600 minutes weekly in Gereral Ed, paraprofessional support for alt minutes
il General Ed; 1,350 minutes weekly in Special Ld for reading, math, written expression and adaptive
béhavior and 90 minutes weekly of speech/language therapy, to give him a total of | 440 minutes
wfﬂe,k_ly of Special Education; he would also receive 30 minutes weekly occupationat therapy, the
Student was eligible for specialized transportation 10 and from school daily; the Student’s mother
expressed concerns about the Student being reasoned for Osage Creek Elementary. reporting the
Student does not do well with change and will have'a difficult time adjusting 1o new situations/settin gs,
reporting the Student’s pediatrician agreed that would tmpedethetr progress; the Committee discussed
that, in reviewing the criteria for the least restrictive environment, thas also includes the Student being
alile to attend the school he would normally atiend i non-disabled, which schoo! would be Osage
Creek Llementary School, his zoned school,! :

ke

Reterring 10 a Notice of Action dated 1-10-18, the witness read from the document as to Explanation
of Action that the committee met as a provision of FAPE to complete an anmual review of the
Student’s IEP and to determine if ESY services were needed for the Student. The witness exjHained

[

T Vel 11, P 229, dine 10, through P, 230, line 4
o Vol I, P.7 line 18, through P. 10, line 2

" Vol 1L P10, fine 20. through P. 11, line 7
[FEH

Vol 1L P. 11, Tine 8, through P, 13, line 23
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th}u the review six months after development of an 1EP 5-13 at the end of Kindergarten was because
of a change in schqols for the Student '

L '

‘Looking at the IEP goals, the witness testified that putting (v direct instruction in social skills would
normally have a time put in, and the total amount of Special Ed minutes was 1,640 The withess
testified O7 is a related service as far as Special Ed minutes and whether 1t counts as Special Ed
depends on where it is pulled from, so she would assume the remaining minutes were outside the
Student’s OT therapy in the General Ed setting "

The witness testified the Bentonville School District bases its week ofF of 2.1 10 minutes. and there has
béen an edjustment in start and end tines, so give or take 10 minutes, amounting to somea 35 hours
a week OF 50, approximately 7 hours a day '

The witness discussed the purpase of the Notice of Conference dated 9-25-18 was to conduct an
Existing Data Review as part of an initial evaluation, or re-evaluaion was checked at the top, and to
collaborate with oulside therapies. The witness agreed "collaborate with outside therapies™ meant
therapies the Student was getting, ke OT and speech therapy, outside school. Leockmg at the iist of
names nvited to that meeting, the witness said was the psych examiner for that schoo,
thiat was listed under “Other,” and she was the spesch and language pathologist. The
witness testificd she did not see the name of the OT. The witness testified she did not see the names

e ftom the Children’s Therapy Team on the list. The witness testified she knew ther

of the peopt
names, as they (Bentonville) work closely with them, and the ABA therapist 1s Brooke Burnett. but
stie did not personally know the Children’s Therapy Team doing the speech or occupational therapy
Looking at the Notice of Action the witness read that the Student’s educational committee met to
discuss possible re-evaluation for planning and programming purposes, it was determined a
comprehensive evaluation needed to be compicted in the areas of cognttion, achievement, adaptive
behavior, speech/language therapy and occupational therapy: and that classroom observations,
curriculuimi-based assessment, teacher input and parent input would atso be included. '

b

The wilness testified she did not know whether ' eport was in the school documents,
but said she did kno as referenced in a lot of the documents. Vol 11, P. 33, lines
18-24 As to an evaluation dated 3-21-18, the witness cordirmed no receipt stamp on it, and stated
ag far as it being in the School’s records, she did not know how they got it, that there are different
ways they receive documents, a parent can bring them or the Schoal can request records. '

1 Vol 11, P. 19, Tine 16, through P. 20, line 20
e Vol UL, P. 23, fine 22, through P. 27, fine 1§

s Vol 4, P 27 line 19, through P. 28, line &

1 Vol. 11, P. 2%, line 10, through P. 32, line [3

o

e Vol 13, P 33, lne 18, through P. 37, line 15
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Looking ar the Notice of Action on pages 1903-1906, 12-12-18, the witness read the document,
saying in the Explanation of Action, the Student’s educational commitiee mes and reviewed the resyits
off his completed re-evaluation; that it was determined on the basis of that review, the Student
comiinues to quahfy to receive Special Education services under the ehgibility category of autism m
all academic area, adaptive behavior skills, speech/language therapy and occupational therapy; that the
chmmiitec updated the Student’s IEP: that he would receive specialized instruction in reading, written
expression and math, he would also receive suppodt in the area of adaptive behavior, and he would
confinue 1o receive speech/language therapy and occupational therapy  The witness testified that
evahuation conference was to review the evalualion results '8

Referring to the Explanation of Action. the witness read the document, stating that the educational
committee met and reviewed the results of the student's completed re-evaluation. The witness agreed
that there was nothing on 1he Notice of Conference to indicate whether or not DBr Van Kirk’s
etaluation was considered.'” The witness testified they reviewed the evaluation results and updated
the Student’s IEP on 121218 11

Looking at the Student’s second grade 1P developed 12-12-18, the witness testified she did not see
the parents’ signature, that the parent is a required member of the [EP team, and the Disirict is
tequired to make efforts to make sure the parent altends the meeting. The witness testified the phone
calt from the pareat was on 12-12-18, listed undet Parent and Guardian Input seotion, which listed per
aphone call on 12-12-18 the parent was unable to attend and indicated she was fine to let the meeting
be held without her, said she did not feel well, The witness testified marks indicating “Mailed 12-13-

18" and “Per phone call 12-12" were signed B A

Referring to the Notice for the 5-16-19 conference. the witness testified the parent requested to
dismiss therapies. The witness read the Notice of Action of the 5-16-19 conference, reciting thas the
Parent requested therapics be discontinued in the schaol setting, that she was providing speech and
occupational therapy svaluation from Children’s Therapy Team, that the occupational therapy school
OT requested to speak with the outside therapist; that the speech therapy reporl was reviewed by
schoo! SLP, that articulation goals were si milgr, there was some correlation on language goals, but
not all; pragmatic goals given in school were discontintied at cutside therapy, the therapist agrees o
determine ifit meets F APE necds: that 2 reloase was sigued by the parent for Children’s Therapy Team
consultation, and the parent requested her insurance not bs bifled '

He Vol i1, P. 39, line 23, through P, 41, line |
b Val 11, P. 43, line 13, through P. 44, line 9
PR Vel 1L P44, lines 10-17

A Vol 11 P. 44, fine 21, through P. 49, line 4

L Vol [I, P. 50, line 12, through P. 52, line 20
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Discussing the parent's request for rhmany }%ﬁcomiming the withess testified she remembered
requesting the records from Children’s Therapy Team so they {the District) could look at them and
see f they were denying FAPE. since in arder to discontinue, vou have to determine whether YOu are
denymg, FAPE The witness said they had the spesch and OT evajuation only, and they needed recozdn,
fal the progress notes also, that having evaluations and looking at progress is not the same '

The witness testified they needed the progress notes 10 determine whether of not the 1EP goals were
the same, and that was why they signed a relcase for the Children’s Therapy Team to consult with
them, as they did not knaw the progress at that pont, that this was Mav 16, about the end of the

Student’s second grede year. The witness testified you cen see the speech therapist repoit was
rgviewed by the SLP. who determined that in that report the articulated goals that the school had and

—

He outside therapist had were similar, and there was also a correlation in the language goals, bt not
all of them, and the pragmatic goals given in the school were discontinued at outside therapy '¥

The witness agreed there was a problem with the Student missing schoo! 1o go to ABA therapy, and
agreed the District filed two FINS petitions with DHS. The witness testified they changed the
Student's schedule for the OT and the speech and asked the parent if there was a way they could have
consistencies in the days they were present, and they ¢ changed to get the therapies on Mondays and
Tuesdays, but there was still an wsue as that did not meet the compulsory attendance. The witness
testified the purpose of the 1EP was to look at the provisions of FAPE, and in order for the District
ta say a child could miss the therapies outside of the schirol, they had 1o look and see if OT and speech
the Student was receiving outside also met what was going on at school, and that was why the report
of reviewing the outside therapies, to see if they did discontinue the O and the bﬂLLLh that it would
not be a deniat of FAPE if the Student only received them it the outside therapies. '

=

When asked it the 1EP tean had the aut]mntv to allow the Student to go and attend his ABA therapy,
the witness responded it was possible. * When asked if the IEP team had the authority 1o exempt the
‘mtudent from the regular school discipline policy, the witness responded they did.'**

The witness testified Ms, Birge asked for Thrive to come ta the schoal to provide the ABA therapy
:hme The witness testified the TEP team would have the authority to allow that. When asked why
Thi?& did not do that, the witness responded the Student was on a Tier 2 intervention for behavior, theoy
difd not have ABA in the districl. and the Student’s Tier 2 interventions from his teacher had to be 1n
place before they could move to & Tier 3, where usually they would go ahead and move into a formal
Behavior Support Plan. The witness restified Bentormille did not conduct a Functicnal Behavior

b Vol 1L, B 53, line 23, through P. 56, line |
" Val 11 P36, line 2, through P. 57, fine 5
- Vol 1l P57, line 16, through P, 62, line 4
B Vol 1L, P, 62, lines 8-11

3 Vol 1L P62 lines 12-15

H20-05 FINAL ORDER PAGE 28




Assessment or put i place a Behavior Interventian Plan, but they did put in behavior supports,
behavior goals. m the Student’s TEP ¥

The witness tesiified she remembered a meeting with Thrive, but could not siate if it was an [EF
weeling o just a meeting with thens.'"” The witness testified she knew that there was 4 meeting she

d not attend to address the Student's absences. and she knew there was a DS meeting that talked
125

2.3

about the absences.

Looking at an email string, an emait from at Theive, tof N 2-6. where the
witness was copied, the witness agreed it said she wanted o pass on a request from the Student’s
mother that asked she and | vere mvited to the meeting

next week, as she stated that she wanted them to attend, and that they were looking forward to
develaping a plen that would benefit the Student in all environments. The witness testitied she did not
know the purpose of the meeting, and agreed that asked o look at the Student’s
behavior data from school, but the witness said she did not know whether or not she got it. The
witness agreed{ NN - he progress report, and looking at an progress repart, | 1-20-18,
the witness said she also saw one right after that email from Feb. 6, 2019, and the range of the report

18 from 1-16-19 to Feb. 6, 2019, the author being data that came with the email.
Looking at page 403, the wilness agreed it saic n, her program director, and she wold

be attending the meeting tomorrow, which would be Feb. 12th. The witness testified it was Angela
Winfield's obligation to document IEP meetings and send out the Notice of Conference when they are
going to have an IEP meeting. The witness testified as (o a February 12" meeting being a paremt
nieeting, but was not aware of any documentation thereon, '

™

—

poking at a March 7" email from who works for DHS, the witness
greed she was copied on that email. The witness also testified that a statement the schoo! was not
at liberty to exempt any student from following the established Bentonville Schools Atiendance
Policies was not accurate, as there are somie exceplions to that, As 1o a meeting requested by Ms.
Lohr, the witness testified she was not present, but the witness read the documen anted
aexemption fromthe Bentonvilie Schools Attendance Policy, The witness agreed the Student nissed
7 days duc to ABA therapy, OT and speech therapy between January & and March 28", agreed the
document recited the Student’s mother maintained she had referrals from medical professionals 1o
support the need for those therapies, and agreed she (the witness) had witnessed those referrals from
r ABA therapy. The witness did not recall if she was made aware
of the referrals or the medical necessity of the Studem attending QT and speech therapy for the
amounts of therapy needed outside of school. The witness said the document reciting “Stance, Osage

pog

—

Vol 11, P. 62, line 16, through P. 04, line 14
127 Vol 1L P. 70, lines 7-§

2 vVab ILP 71, fine 14-24
pa

Vol H, P72, line 8 through P. 76, line 22
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Creek stafl does not support or recommend russing school for parent-elected therapy,” was not
discussed witl her ™

R;efeﬂ'iug to the records produced in this case, when asked about a point saving that Thrive Therapy

offered 1o schedule ABA therapy to the Student's Famj ly at a time that dig not interfere with schogl

hours, but the mother elected to schedule during school hours for reasons related to personal and

family convenience, and whether the witness had any personal knowledge or had seen a document to

support that point, the witness testified it would take her a bit. but she could find an email where it
N ar . at 131 . ) .

dgus support that, , ] H Lo

A§ far as 35 hours time in gchodd and tf;: recommended therapy time, and time for the ABA speech

and occupational therapy, the witness testified she knew Thrive offers weekends,

The withess agreed the Student needs ABA therapy ip order to benefit, and said the District supports
the science of behavior, which is the ABA methods, The witness further testifted that while she did
not have an ansyver tor whether it helped the Student in the second grade. the progress notes from
Brooke helped them see that there was some progress. When asked if she thought the District made
progress before ABA, the witness testificd through thg Student’s IEP goals that progress is noted, yes,
that he had behavior goals. ' §

Ak far as the Student’s 1EPs, the witness testified there were two different schools. Centerton Gamble
Elementary in first grade, and the Student would be under the first IEP uniil they met in December to
devise another one at Gsage Creek. The witness testified there wers goals set out m both IEP’s, and
agreed the document shown did not set out much progress. ™

i

When asked what the District would point (o show progress the Student has made, the witness agreed
he would have looked at the progress on thase IEP goals as a source, but agreed none was shown on
the LEP7s 1

Asked to recall the testimony in this case of ul the graphs she talked about that
would show progress the Student made, and-then asked if there was anything she disagreed with as

far as progress the Student made, the witness replied in the Thrive setting, no, she did not. Looking
at'an April " email from the witness to the parent, the witness testificd she did remember writing it.

S Vol 1L P77, fine 13, through P. 81, line 12

o Vol Ik, P83, tine 22, through P. 84, line 6
1A Vol 1L, P. 84, line 11, through P 85, line 16
134 Vol Tt P86, line 18, through P. 87, fine 25

134 Vol 1k P. 88, line | through P, 97 lie 18

133 Vol 1L, P. 98 line 8, through P 99, line 15
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The witness testified they look fo see if a child meets the criteria of the exceptions 1o the District
pohcy on attendance. The witness testified they were not provided with a medical referral at the 1EP
meetlm, The witness testified that it is possible an TER team make a ruling that the Student could
recenve ABA therapy outside of the public schoo! setting during public schoot hours. When asked why
an LEP meeting was not held 1o determine whether the Student needed the ABA therapy 10 benefit
fmm s instructjon at schood so he could have owside ther apy during schooi time, the witness mphed
that the 1EP committee heard from Thrive that they were willing to do it in the evening, which is why
the TEP commitiee did not convene to do it duri mg school hours When asked why Bentonville Schoo!
District does not allow Thrive to come and prove the Student ABA thorapy oasite, the witness said
Onc of the reasons is that they value the instructional time as well, . making sure the Student has afl the
minutes that they looked at in the documents, making sure he is not pulled cut of the instructional time
Fm the ABA therapy. The witness agreed that she bad heard of speech and OT therapy being

m;eﬂ-ratgd curing the classroom, and said they could do that with ABA_ and their curriculum supports
it aﬂ well 1

—

le witness agreed that whether an absence is excused or not. it is still an absence, meamng the
Student is not in the building, and the Student is not coming 1o school on Mondays and Tuesdays, and
even if she said today they would call those excused absences from now on and not call DHS, it does
not solve the problem with respect to the Siudent being in school getting an education ¥’

When asked what reason the Student’s mother gave the District for not allowing the Student 1o have
his therapy with Thrive outside of school hours, the witness replied the mother said it would interfere
with family time with she and her husband. The witness testified the Student’s mother was always
caneerned that the Student’s father woulid be deployed, and they did not want 1o iake time away from
that. The witness testified she heard the testimony in this case that the father has not been deployed
i almost two years, and that he had a fl-time job, so was not spending afternoons at home. The
witness testified the Student s mother never said the reason she could not take the Student after school
wiis because Thive did not have space for him. The witness agreed that Thrive said they could be
flgxible and get the Student in af that time, and the witness agreed this was just a parents” choice to
take the Student out of school two of the five days & week ™

<‘,

The witness agreed that when determining progress, they are tying to determine whether the Student
ngeds these supports to have access to his Special Education, and are tooking at Jus progress not enly
i behavior, but also in his academics. Looking at tab 134 in the District binder, the Student’s
December 2018 IEP in the second grade vear, the witness testified the Student was making progress
inEnglish language ants. written expression and comprehension and had mastered both of those, he
had mastered all three goals for sight words, but progress was not being made on behavior related to
self goals. The witness testified that when anything was discontinued, it was in favor of new goals

e Vol H, P99, line 23, through P 107, line 16
B ol 11, PL108, lines 3-23

13 Vol II, B 108, line 24, through . 110, line 3
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uqua!iy and there was anew TEP. The withess testified the Student was progressing in math, mastering
two of the four goals, he mastered all theee goals in occupational therapy, and he was progressing in
English Ianguanc arts, phonics and speech/language therapy. The witness agreed the District
collaborated with Theive for the Student’s benefit, but testified private ABA therapy service was nol
nEeded for the Student to access his Special Education, and that is shown by the documenis. The
witness testified the IEP team designed a plan of supports for the Student to have access to his Special
Educm wn, and not only did he access it, but he progressed. '

Ihe witness testified that if'a social skall is imbedded in a goal, there would not necessarily be separate
mmuie« listed for the social skill. The witiess testified it wold not be unusual at all to do an extended
qchool year analysis afler a break, as they are looking for regression, so measuring trom before
C 311 tstmas hreak to after Christmas break would be typical, so the earlier questions to this witness
abﬂut doing the analysis in January, that would be normal '+

When asked if the decision by the [EP team isto do a comprehensive evaluation, would that mean YOu
would naturally include all services the student is receiving, the witness replied that was cogrect, and
testified you would not have (o have an OT present, that “comprehensive” means just thar,'”

Looking at page 1725 in the District’s book, tab 124, the wirness agreed she recalled the questioning
tc her suggesting that the District never considered the input of the Student’s medical twam, the
wittiess read, under Previous Evaluations on 1725, that oa September 28, 2016, the Student’s
educational committee met to review his progress and new information from his plwsman I
G, a2 [ | diagnosed the Student with autism September 12, 2016, that the
educational committee made the decision to change his Special Education categoly 1o autism, and that
h¢ begdn receiving services to address reading, written expression, math and adaptive behavior
SUpPPOTtsIn a.dditmn to his speech/language and occupational therapy services. So, the witness testified
the committee received the information, evaluaied it and took action based therson ™

The witness testified it is common in the District to at least start preparation of an IEP document in
preparation for the meeting and then re-draft and adapt it as the meeting goes."™ The witness testified
that if a parent requests that outside therapists or providers be included in an IEP meeting or ather
conference, they are invited by the District, so for any meeting where a therapist did not attend, we
kaow by conclusion the parent did not request i '

YT Vol 1L, P 110, line 4, through P, [13, line 25
e Vol i, P. 114, lines 5-24
"” Vol 11, P. 114, line 25, through P. 115, line 10

i Vol 1P 115, ine 11, through P. 116, line 22

| " Vol 1L, P117, tines 17-21

i Vol 1L P 11, dine 22, through P 118, line 4
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Locking at page 1909 under tab 136, under Explanation of Action, the witness testified the first
sentence said the parent had requested that therapies be discontinued in the school setting. and that
that was considered by the District, but it was rejected because the District requested the records from
the outside therapies to review them so they could determine if it was a denial of FAPE (o have the
outsude therapies substitute for the in-school, and 1hev condudcci it would be a denial of FAPE to
dlswmluue the therapies as requested by the parent.!

T@he witness testified that in the coniext of “she” is providing speech and oecupational therapy
evaluations from the Children’s Therapy Team, “she” referred to the Student’s mother, who
p:mspecﬁvely provided the evaluations, and then there was a request for additional records. The
witness testified the occupational therapy was received, and they asked for the progress notes, but they

dicf not receive the progress notes on speech. The witness said her understanding what that was the
ﬁ1 st time the parent asked thar her insurance not be billed **¢

A\is to the meeting mn February of 2019 with Thrive, looking at page 379, under tab 48, the witness
confirmed that — stated in that enail 1o the Ristrict she was concerned about how much
s¢hool the Student is missing. The witness further confirmed that NS said on page 380 she
was absolutely open to looking at ather session times, they were Hexible and wanted to be sure the
Siuden‘e wias inaking progress across all environments, but right then they were following the schedule
p{ ovided by the parents.'*’

L.;ookmg al page 380, the witness was not able 10 tell who requested the meeting, but testified the
;meeting did takg place, an nformal meting to collaborate with Thrive.!

Looking at page 733 in the District binder. tab 89, the witness ideniified the document as an email
trom Jamie Coaok, the self-contained classroom teacher, t -at Thrive, and 1t was also
bﬁﬂt o —:I the fead at Osage Creck. The witness read that the email stated there was
‘sqame of the data she had for the Student from school. from his last JEP date, 12-12-18. (o the day

before he began being absent two days weekly, 1-16-19, his adaptive behavior percentage were,
cbjective number one, appropriately comply with three or Jess prompts, 85 percent: objective number
two, interact appropriately (expected behaviors), 73 percent; objective three, work toward completion
of task or assignment In required time frame, 78 percent; from [-16-19 10 2-11-19, objective number
cme 69 percent, objecmenumbertwm 67 percent, objective number three, 75 percont; i said she was
going Lo scan and email what she received from the school OT and the Student’s report card narratives
accompanying the Student’s TEP goals each quarter; it aiso said when she looked at the regression
chaviorallv and academically, part of her concern was the lack of instructional time, that each schoo!

-y

" Vol L P 118, fine §, through P. 119, line 17
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da} was 420 minutes, that when the time is added from the earty checkout days, Menday and Tuesday,
pEus all of Wednesday and Thursday, General Education times such as lunch and recess, school-based
OﬁT and speech are taken out, she had only 360 instructional minutes with the Student each week, and
itisaid they would love to discuss alternatives 1o the missed school time, thanks so much, and was
sipgned Jamie Cook. The witness agreed it was a fhir characterization that pulling the Student out two
r.i;a_ys weekly was hurting him, '™

th asked if the Distict liad ever received anything informing them thal privaie ABA therapy 15
redically necessary for the $tudent 1o access his Special Education, the witness said no, and confirmed
15 not & medical doctor. The witness said she was present vesterday when D
Neaville™s records were reviewed, that simply said the parent asked 1o be referred to ABA "™ The
watness said she had not seen anything from a medical doctor saying either that the Student needs
private therapy at Thrive, ABA therapy, to aceess or benefit from Special Educalion in the Bentonville
School District, nor had the witness seen any evidence to suggest the Student requires private ABA
therapv o benefit from Special Education in the Bentonviile School District ¥

W‘hen asked w]w they go thmugh a Tier 2 before doing a Functional Behavior Assessment, the wiiness
testificd they have a Response to Intervention in Bentonville School District which was written by, at
that time, their BCBA v D - she developed the system so they could look at Tier
|, Tier 2 and Tier 3; when they looked at the documentation showing the behaviors ihe Studens had,
she worked with the team for a Tier 2 intervention, so they applied a Tier 2 before gong to a Tier 3
Behawon Support Plan, and the District’s BCBA worked specifically on the Tier 2 plan for the
Studcul The witness said hased on all the data reviewed, she believed it had been successful, and she
hélieved the Tier 2 is appropriate for the Student, no need to go to Tier 3.7

ﬂje witness testifled attendance was addressed with the &:tudent s mother before the FINS petition
was file, but ske refysed to bring the Swudent (o school tustead of taking him out two full days a
week  The witness said even after the FINS: petition was filed, the Student’s mother did not decide
to bring the Student to school. '™

Looking at page 1504, tab 99 (NN o of March 2018, the last paragraph on that
page, before the Student began receiving ABA therapy at Thrive, the withess confirmed it said that
due fo special therapaeﬁ educational accommaodations and parental guidance, the Student has made
developmental gains. Then, two paragraphs before that, the witness confirmed it said that the

W wol 13 P 123, line 17, through P 125, line 10
R Vol 11, P. 125, line |1, through P. 125, line 22
B Vol 1L P 126, tine 18, through P. 127, line 2
Y ol I, P 127, line 3, through P. 128, Jine 1

. Vol [1, P. 128, lines 2-14

He20-05 FINAL ORDER PAGLE 34




‘Lmdent s mother and Dr Neaville provided extensive medical and educational records doc UMeHing
ihb Student’s ASD diagnosis and interventions, '

T he witness said she gathersd the records for the purpose of today, but did not sit down and read the
3,000+ pages i preparation for her testimony today, that in fact she did not know she was going 1o
tcsufv today, and did no analysis of all of the data to try to answer specific questions today '

Thc witness teslified she was aware that children in the Bentonville Sehool District receive ABA
therapy from Thrive, that they do not get their therapy during the schoo! day. but rather afier school
and wieekends '™ 4

Wit regard to earlier questioning of this witness concermning when an IEP team has the authority 10
exempt a student from the District attendance requirements, and had the witniess seen any basis for the
Student to receive an exemption based o his attendance during the school day of private ABA thers apy
at|Thrive, the witness responded no.'*

Réterring to the Student’s second grade [EP, the witness confirmed it was developed before or around
the time the Student bepan ABA therapy, and the witness read the Student’s needs. tha! he was
in¢onsistent in his academie skalls, while he dhuld read and write CVC words, he was nconsistent, he
was unable to write more thas one sentence about a topic, and was inconsistent with addmg and
subtracting over ten, his behaviors affected his learning and performance significantly, he refused and
was noncompliant the majority o the time, his refusals were in the form of growling, grunting, putting
hig head down, tearing up work, hitting, kicking and sometimes screaming, during two weeks of data
coflection in September 20718, he had over 100 refusais per day. The witness confirmed that the
Smdem behavior significantly impacts his learning according to his TEP.™* The witness testified she
kriew Lindsey Lovelady, she was hired by the Distriet, and she is a BCBA.'™ The witness testified they
had an evaluation from Thrive as o the Student and ABA therapy, and records from Dr. Neavilie
statm" she was referring the Student for ABA therapy. '™

—
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The witriess confirmed she did believe the Student needed some ABA therapy. ™ The witness teatified
it was her understanding that no IEP meting was ever held where evervone came together to discuss
the absences or need for ABA therapy, where all those people were invited and the District and the JEP
teafm considered those issues '

lhc wilness agreed ABA therapy for the Student did not begin until January 2019, and said that lovking
bac:k a the progress numbers, pages 183-189 under tab 132, progress i many categories by the
Student prior to ABA therapy is shown '

The wilness agreed, as Lo invited guests and people for 1EP and other meetings, there could be an
additional answey (0 her earlier one that if someone was not there, the parents did not invite them, that
they could just have chosen not to atiend, %

The witsiess _wmtsed she is & speech/language pathologist, baving a Master's degree
and a Certificate of Clinical Competence. The witness testified she has been a speech pathologist tor
a Eﬁuie over a year, and is employed by Children’s Therapy Team. The witness testified she has been
tre;atmg3 3 the Student since June of 2018, and that she looked over the records of other speech therapy
le Student had for reference before she began treating him, '%

The witness testified she received her Centificate of Clinical Competence five months ago, in May of
"(Jkﬁ) so she did not have that Certificate the first year she worked with the Student, which means at
the time she recommended the 120 minuies weekly she did not have her Certificate of Clinical
Cqmpeteme The witness testified the 120 mimites she recommended weekly would not change based
upon learning the Student was getting ninutes by ﬂnothci provider. The witness testified she had never
wdrked in a school environment. '

The witness testified she had never observed the Student in class at the Bentonville School District.
Asito ber testimony about behaviors the Student exhibited at school, the witness testified before he
comes to her, the oceupational therapist told her what the Student’s mom said, this happened at school.
50 %zmy information the witness has about what the $tudent did or did not do at sehool would be from
thg Student’s mom. The witness testified she had not asked for any records or data from the

16} Vol II.P. (42 lines 15-25
62 Vol 11 P. 144, lings 2-8
e Vol 11, P. 144 line {5, through P. 147, line 7

I Vol [, P. 150, lines 3-18

S Vol HL P S, line 22, through P. 6, fine 20

Lt Vab H1, P 27, line 6, through P28, line 23

H20-008 FINAL ORDER PAGE 36




B{!nmﬂviglie Schoot Districs. The witness testified she thought the Bemtonville Schoal District has asked
fot her records and her data, but she was not sure, that the front desk staff handies those requests, and
it the correct paperwork is theve, they just send it off The witness testified she had never visited with
the ‘;pu?(,h pathologist from the Bentonville Scheal District. '™

le_e withess agreed, looking at Velume One, tab 73, district pase 620, that it was an email from

' the Bentouville School District to the witness. S&wno_s was working with the
Stident for speech therapy in the schoal setting, and saving she would fike to set up a time to discuss
the Student’s progress in speech therapy at TEAM, as well as collaboration in regard to the Student’s
plan of care and goals. The witness agreed it did not feok like she responded to the email. The witness
agreed it would be important for the Student for the witness to collaborate with the Student’s school
ﬂ'pﬁ&h/lan&,ua e pathologist, and did not koow if anyone ever responded ™

When asked the legal basts of the therapy she provided, the witness testified they use the insurance
guidelines to qualify the Student for therapy, and then they wrote a report and got it sent to the doctor
and the doctc@approved what they recommended, and agreed they qualified the treatment based upon
msurance guidelines, what insurance mandates, what they will cover,'®

=

THe witness testified that in their setting, the cliniclans determine the need and amount of therapy based
on parent repori, standardized testing, clinical judgment, observations, all that. and usnally it is
ingurance that pays. The witness testified as to the documentation she prepares for her therapy, the
guidelines used for the documentation that she is going to prepare, she uses the Treatment Plan she
created when she did the evaluation, she uses those goals. but she follows the requirements of the
msmer 170

When asked about the Student’s most recent evaluation, the witness testified the Student was evaluated

for speech back in December of last vear, and based an his scores, he qualified for expressive and
reqep’twe language goals and other goals to help with articulation. that he has a phonolagical disorder.
and they recommended twice a week to help address those issues. The witness festified some of the
weaknesscs are formulating grammatically correct and coherent verbal and written setitences, following
dlractmns ofincreasing length, following complex directions, answering comprehensive questions from
passag,ea and sentences, recalling sentences from verbal presentation, and then sound mtelligibitity at
alllevels, like understanding what he is saying ' The witness testified she was one of the two therapists

¥ Vol 1 P31, lines 11-14

o Vol. Ui, P. 30, line 6, through P. 32, line 23
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who did the Student’s evaluation currently used to provide therapy for the Stadent. that she wrote part
of it and did past of the evaluarion '

The witness iestified the other person who evaluated the Student on the repost besides the witness was
' ts. The witness said-—, has her Certificate of Clinical Competence, but she

did not supervise the witness, and the witness pointed vuf there were four signatures becaus

had also been supervised, as with certain insurance, your have to hae the CCC s for a couple of months

without a co-stgnature, Eha~waa—mpewism‘ and — was the

witness supervisor,'™

ox o5

Explamning the Student s testing and general language capabilities and communication skills. the witness
testified the Student really needs speech therapy, that he would benefit fram it and that overall he has
profound delay. The witness estified that the categories for speech delays are age-appropriate, normai.
mild, moderate, severe, then profound. The witness testified both the Student s receptive language and
his expressive language are both profound.'™ The witness explained the Student’s testing as to his oral
language expression, and testified it is profoundly delayed also.’™ The witness testified the Student’s
articulation proficiency testing shows a moderate articulation delay,'™

Discussing her recommendations from the strengths and weaknesses shown on testing results, the

witness testified the recommendation was two times a week for 60 mimites, for a total of 120 minutes

weekly, The witness said she did not know the Student was gesting other therapy at the time, and had

she known, that would not have gone into the mix, as she thinks the Student bencfits from speech

therapy, she hias seen progress in him. ' The witness testified she has been with the Student since June

of 2018, and there were behaviors such as swiping things off her desk, throwing a chaiy, refusal to do
vthing, but it got better 7

The witness testified since the Student has been having ABA therapy. she has not communicated with
the ABA Thrive team, then lovking at a letter on page 549, the witness said she signed that fetter, she
Was not sure it was getting sent to the school, and that she believed it was this vear, that it discuassed
the Student hag a medical diagnosis and the seivices he receives through her team were medicatly

B Vol 111, P 8, fine 25, thmugh P9 line 9
he Vol. 111, P. 39, line 7, through P40, line 8
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ne;cessary. The witness agreed she would have gotten that inforniation from some kind of doctor's
prescription

The witness testified she used pasitive reinforcements for the Student, 10 which he responds well most
of the time, a¥id that he 15 showing frogress '™ Discussing the Student’s clarity of speech now versus
when he began, the witness testified she is a famifiar listener, so she can understand him, and otbérs can
understand bim a little bit more. As far as the Student’s prparess to date, the witness testified she has
not made any recommendations other than the® houlls afl rapy that is medically necessary for him. ¥

When asked how she would rate the Student’s current ability to communicate, zero 10 ten, putting his
ability a1 5 when he began with the witness, the witness said she would put him at an eight. that he has
mdde so much progress in the last vear she has been treating him, significant progress. The witness
testified that eight rating did not include articulation, and starting with a five, on that she would move
thé Student down to a seven '

Thee witness testified she was not aware an individual can be eligibte for private therapy but not school-
based therapy.™ The witness testified she did not know whether the Children’s Therapy Team, or

anyone, like the mother, had asked the Bentonville School for them to be abie to come over and
observe the Student. '™

The witness ~r testified she s an oceupational therapist, receiving her doctorate at
Murphy College of Health Sciences in Virginia, she has been practicing in pediatrics for the last two
yedrs at Cinldren’s Therapy Team, and holds CPR and Advanced Life Su pport certificates.’™

i

The witness testified she has been treating the Student for almost the past two years at Children’s
Therapy Teain in an outpatient setting, and she has seen a fot of progress. ™
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Lookmg, at the blue bock, pages 289 through 326, the occupational therapy evaluations of the
Children’s Therapy Team, as well as the school district, that have been done on the Student, starting
with the most recent evaluation done 12/3/18, an oecupational therapy re-evaluation. the witness
testified that she and another occupational therapist named Cody who also treated the Student in an
oufpatient setting and contributed 1o this ev aluation, looked at the standardized tests, the Berry and
the BOT performed, the three subtests, and on visual motor integration the Student demonstrates
shimal delay, but significant delay in motar coordination. significant delay meaning the Student is
n ratwe 1.5 standard deviations below, very outside the mean and very low for his age/level '

(Dh—i

Thx, witness testified they also did the PEDI test and the sensory profile, which are both 1 parent reports
They gather information based on observations mom or dad has seen at home to add to their wa!uatwn
The PEDI looks at a measure of self-care skills, getting dressed by himsell, brushing his teeth, being
able to tie his shoes, to compare 10 children of his age, and the Student had 4 negative four, indicating
a sigmificant delay in self-care. On the social function test, the Student’s score indicated a significant
delay for following one or twao-step directions, using one or two words together with meaning, playing
with peers, those type thmgs The 1ADL, Independent Activities of Daily Living. is the ability 10
fi iction m the communitv-hased setting, going to the store, getting something from the cash register
and so forth, and academic skills like wariting his name, letters, words, UIOSP type things. The BOT
looks at fine motor skills and manual dexterity and coerdination slills  Fine motar integration is the
"1bﬂ v to replicate simple shapes, and the Student had significant delay. The Student had moderate
'de]tzw n the manual dexterity fest, how well he is able to use his hands rogether and speed and acour acy.

The Student had significant delay in unper linth coordination, such as the ability fo catch a tennis ball,
dr[bbic a tennis ball, throw:a ball at a rarget with aceuracy and such, '™

l'hh witness testified as to the Sensory Profile that it gives a measure of how the Student is able to
interpret information through his senses, which is a parent report, $o those scores which show definite
dtﬁ erence indicate the Student is misinterpreting the information he g zains through his sensory system

or does not have appropriate responses foward them, so that impedes his ability to participate in daily
]lfﬁ‘g 189

T h: witness testified she came up with the120 minutes per week for her Assessment and Treatment
Plan based off her clinical observation and the resuits of standardized testing and olinical judgment. Her
recommendation was 2 50-minutes sessions weekly. ™™ The witness testified the Student’s mother told
the witness the Student was receiving ABA therapy from Thrive on Mondays and Tuesdays. ™
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The witness testified she provided a letter at the request of the Student’s mother for DHS saying the
Student had a medical diagnosis of autism and the services he received through TEAM were medically
necessary given the Student’s scores on the attached OT and speech therapy evaluations, that the -
Student received those services to facilitate age-appropriate functioning in his daily life, and it also set
out the deficits in the Student’s OT and that he had improved.'*

The witness testified that, looking at the District’s evaluation 4-17-1 7, and whether or not it was similar
to hers, the raw scores on the school-based evaluation indicate a ten, and the raw scores on the Berry
VMI on the current evaluation indicated a nine, but she would have to look at the Z-score to determine
if it is significantly different or not, and there was no Z-score on the school’s report. As to the VMI,
the witness testified the numbers were 73 on the school evaluation and 74 on the TEAM OT evaluation,
only one higher, so that would be a slow progress. The witness testified on visual perception the raw
score was higher on the school-based valuation and lower on the OT evaluation, not showing progress
in that area. The witness testified on motor coordination the school-based evaluation was 45 and 62
on the TEAM evaluation, indicating progress there. As to age differences and increase or decrease in
ability, when going from a raw score to a standard score, and whether or not her rating scale has a
weighting component based on age, the witness testified it is based off of kids that are the Student’s
age. The witness agreed she could accurately compare the scores off the Z-score, but would need to

have her manual to convert from raw score to a standard score to see what the weighted score would
be '

When asked if she could attribute the Student’s cooperation and willingness to try to the direct
occupational therapy, the witness testified it could be a lot of different things, it could be because he
is getting older and is more mature, it could be other services he is receiving, school-related services,
she could not say just one thing. The witness testified that some of the functional skills work she does
with the Student could be transferred to the school environment. The witness testified, as to Sensory
issues and how those would transfer, it is different in a school-based setting, the scope of practice is
related to educational goals, and while she did not have school-based experience, it is not always able
to be performed in that setting, but it was her hope skills the Student learns in an outpatient setting have
a translation to any kind of environment, whether school, community or otherwise.”® The witness
testified she had not had any contact with the school occupational therapist.'*s

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Current case law holds that “the burden of proof absent a State Statute to the contrary in an
administrative hearing challenging a denial of FAPE is properly placed upon the party seeking relief,
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whether that is the disabled child or the school district.“!*¢

FAPE as defined for the purposes of this part are:

a) To ensure that all children with disabilities have available to them a free
appropriate public education that emphasizes special education and related
services designed to meet their unique needs and prepare them for further
education, employment and independent living;

b) To ensure that the rights of children with disabilities and their parents are
protected;

c) To assist States, localities, educational service agencies and Federal agencies to
provide for the education of all children with disabilities; and

d) To assess and ensure the effectiveness of efforts to educate children with
disabilities.

Pursuant to Part B of the IDEA, States are required to provide FAPE for all children with disabilities
between the ages of three (3) and twenty-one (21)."" In 1982'* the U.S. Supreme Court addressed
the meaning of FAPE and set fourth a two-part analysis that must be made by Courts and Hearing
Officers in determining whether or not a school district has failed to provide FAPE as required by
Federal law." Pursuant to Rowley, the first inquiry a Court or Hearing Officer must make is whether
the State, i.e., the local educational agency or district, has complied with the procedures and regulations
as set out in the IDEA. Therefore, it must determine whether the IEP developed pursuant to the IDEA
procedures was reasonably calculated to enable a student to make progress appropriate in the light of
the student’s circumstances.

Procedural violations are actionable, and an 1EP should be set aside, only if (i) the procedural
inadequacies compromised the pupil’s right to an appropriate education, (ii) seriously hampered the
parent’s opportunity to participate in the formulation process, or (iii) caused a deprivation of
educational benefits. >

As set forth below, even if the procedural violations occurred, which the Respondent disputes, they

9 Schaffer v. Weast, 44 IDELR 150 (U.S.2005)
97 20 U.S.C. 1412(a); 34 C.F.R. 300.300A(a)

18 Hendrick Hudson Dist. Bd. Of Educ. V. Rowley,
99 458 U.S. 176, 206-07 (1982)

X0 Park Hill Sch. Dist. v. Dass, 655 F.3d 762, 766 (8" Cir. 2011)
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did not compromise Student’s right to an appropriate education or deprive Student of educational
benefits.

Thus, Parents’ litany of alleged technical deficiencies cannot support a claim that Student was denied
FAPE. Seelndep. Sch. Dist. No. 283 v. S.D., 948 F. Supp. 860, 882 (D. Minn. 1995), aff'd sub nom.
88 F.3d 556 (8" Cir. 1996) (finding no procedural error where technical deficiencies in IEPs did not
negatively impact Student’s educational experience and the IEPs had been accepted by parents.)
Examining the first inquiry, that of whether the District has complied with the procedures set forth in
the IDEA, this Hearing Officer hereby finds that the District did not deny FAPE to the student on
account of any violation of any procedural issues.

Having analyzed the first prong of the FAPE analysis, it is now necessary to consider whether or not
the District substantively denied FAPE to the Student 7.e., whether the District failed to provide an IEP
that was reasonably calculated to enable the Student to make progress appropriate in the light of the
student’s circumstances.” In the present case there was an IEP developed for the Student because the
Student needed specialized services. Essentially, an IEP is not required to be designed to maximize the
student’s potential commensurate with the opportunity provided to other children, however, the
student’s educational program must be appropriately ambitious in the light of his circumstances and
every child should have the chance to reach a fuller potential by having challenging objectives written
into their [EP. Specifically, “the IDEA requires Public School Districts to educate ‘a wide spectrum
of handicapped children,” and the benefits obtained by children at different ends of the spectrum will
‘differ dramatically.”?*

After hearing each witness and evaluating their credibility and reviewing the evidence presented in
the transcript of the Due Process Hearing, the Hearing Officer finds the following;

Having determined that the District did provide FAPE to the student, it is noted that there is no
requirement in the IDEA that a child shall be provided with the specific educational placement or
services that his or her parents prefer™ Additionally, nothing in the IDEA requires that a school
district maximize a student’s potential or provide the best possible education at the expense of the
public.”* Pursuant to £ndrew’, a district’s obligations under the IDEA are satisfied when a child
receives FAPE, i.e., personalized instruction with sufficient support services appropriately ambitious,

201 Endrew F. V. Douglas County School District Re-1, 137 S. Ct. at 1000

2 C.B. by and through his parents, B.B. and C.V. v. Special School District No. 1,
Minneapolis MN, , 262 F. 3" 981 (8" Cir. 2011) (quoting Rowley, 458 U.S. 176,
at 202 (1982)

"3 Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, at 203 (1982)
¢ T.F. v. Special School District St. Louis Co., 449F 3™ 816, 821(8th Cir. 2006)
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with challenging objectives, to enable the Student to make progress appropriate in the light of the
student’s circumstances.

The IDEA requires that an IEP contain six categories of information®®, but there is no
requirement that every IEP include goals and objectives for every subject matter for which the student
receives special education. Indeed, the Eighth Circuit has cautioned “not to require more from an IEP”
than what is set forth in the statute.® Here, Student’s TEPs met all the requirements of the IDEA.

ORDER

After due consideration of the record, evaluation of the witnesses, review of the evidence and the
foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby found that no relief sought by
Petitioners is Ordered. The Student was provided FAPE instruction with sufficient support services
appropriately ambitious, with challenging objectives, to enable the Student to make progress
appropriate in the light of the Student’s circumstances within the Bentonville School District. There
has been no demonstration of any diminished educational performance by the Student which has not
been addressed adequately through his IEP with direct services provided by the District through trained
staff, using proper instructional/teaching methods.

FINALITY OF ORDER and RIGHT TO APPEAL

The decision of this Hearing Officer is final and shall be implemented unless a party aggrieved
by it shall file a civil action in either Federal District Court or a State Court of competent jurisdiction
pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act within ninety (90) days after the date on
which the Hearing Officer’s Decision is filed with the Arkansas Department of Education. Pursuant to
Section 10.01.36.5, Special Education and Related Services: Procedural Requirements and Program
Standards, Arkansas Department of Education, the Hearing Officer has no further jurisdiction over
the parties to the hearing,

Michael McCauley
Michael McCauley
Due Process Hearing Officer
November 5, 2019

206 | 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1H(AXT)
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